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Payers spend approximately 86% of the premium dollars they collect on the cost of care and about 11% on administration
and growth initiatives. TriZetto has a long-established position as the premier supplier of software and services to
increase administrative efficiency. In the last two years, the company has dramatically expanded its soluzions

to help payers drive revenue growth and improve the cost and quality of care. These solutions are delivering new
benefits for our customers and new growth opportunities for TriZetto.
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Business Perform

TriZetto offers a broad family of information technology products and services for the payer industry,f which includes
health plans and third-party benefit administrators. In addition to the powerful individual functionality of;these offerings,
their unigue integration delivers higher return on investment and greater competitive advantage to obr customers.
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customized information ard tools needed for effective self-management. Personal CareAdvance allows members to review information about their current
health activity and share it with care managers, providers, family and others. The application also gives members access to extensive, up-to-date multimedia health

This screen: TriZetto Personal CareAdvance® supports payers' population management intiatives and helps shape members’ care decisions by providing
libraries as well as personalized content.
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Faster to Market

Getting new offerings to market ahead of competitors is another critical

aspect of enhancing revenue. With fast configuration, TriZetto's core

administration systems reduce the time-to-market for new offerings. The

company’s Healthweb® software, which automates and streamlines

information flows to and from the payer’s web portal, makes it easier and

In 2005, TriZetto introduced Benefit Cost

Modeler™ to further accelerate enrollment. TriZetto also offers outsourced

faster for members to enroll.

services such as FastTrack Medicare and Fund Management Services, which

can put a payer in business almost overnight.

X3

Enrollment in HSA

consumer-directed plans
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TriZetto

icaid and Medicare Advantage

Medi

on, this highly scalable, state-of-the-art technology

Ity, consumer-directed, Managed

This screen: Facets e? is an enterprise-wide core administration solution for all commercial, specia

healthcare organizations. Architected to maximize automation, provide expanded business functionality and integrati

platform can address all of

zcets 7 is at the heart of the

= payer's business needs from e-business integration to care management and consumer-directed functionality. F

ding on business needs.

payer’s healthcare enterprise and can be delivered on a hosted, installed or outsourced basis, depen
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Controlling administrative costs can be critical to a payer's financial success.
TriZetto’s Facets and QicLink core administration systems have long histories
of proven success increasing automation and minimizing administrative cost
ratios. A third of the 100 largest health plans in the U.S. already use Facets.
Forty-four of our Facets customers have already upgraded to the latest
version, 4.X, to take advantage of expanded automation and new product

functionality. TriZetto also offers leading software hosting capab

in line with membership fluctuations.

turn payers
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mbers, TriZetto Clinical CareAdvance™ helps health plans cost-

of me
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This screen: Through improved communication, increased automation and effective monitorin

effectively extend the react and improve the efficiency of their current care management initiatives. Clinical CareAdvance provides comprehensive health monitoring
and reporting tools; provider and nurse-manager alerting; template-based, secure messaging between providers and the health plan; real-time member identification and

customized real-time statistics and reports; and outbound communication methods tailored to the member.

stratification;
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TriZetto is one powerful source for accelerating

the ability of healthcare payers to lead the industry’s

transformation. This year’s report

s built around

that updated mission statement. Our focus on

empowering payers with informat

on technology

has not changed since TriZetto’s founding in 1997.

In 2005, however, we significantly expanded

our ability to deliver solutions that enhance revenue

growth, drive administrative efficiency and

improve the cost and quality of care for health plan

members. Our expanded offerings, enhanced

by further strengthening of our business processes

and execution, generated tremendous financial

returns in 2005. We also reinforced TriZetto’s

market leadership position and delivered

a significant increase in shareholder value.

15




Performance Against 2005 Objectives

My 2005 letter to shareholders outlined three principal
objectives, which focused on the execution of cur business
and financial plans. Our results tell the story. Solid
execution by TriZetto's nearly 1,600 employees generated
a 160% increase In net income and a 22% increase in

cash provided by operations.

Industry Leadership

Industry thought leadership has always been the corner-
stone of TriZetto culiure. Even so, 2005 was a watershed
year. Beginning in 2001, we predicted the arrival of
consumer-retail healthcare, and we readied our core
enterprise systems and developed high-value add-on
components and services. In 2005, it became clear that
consumerism had arrived. Our payer customers

reported that 50% to 75% of requests for proposals

they received from employers included requirements for

consumer-directed-care plan options.

The number of Americans with some form of consumer-
centric health plan tripled to over 3 million at year-end
2005. The future holds tremendous opportunity as there
are more than 245 million insured people in the U.S,
TriZetto’s customers are well-prepared. With access to our
broad array of software and speed-to-market services,
payers can ramp-up their capabilities to address the nascent
opportunities in consumer-retail healthcare. Likewise TriZetto
solutions allow our customers to expand their offerings

in Medicare Part D, Medicare Advantage and Managed
Medicaid, where the combination of the age-wave

of baby-boomers and the passage of the Medicare

Modernization Act have created a catalyst for change.

Industry consolidation and the stagnation of the commercially
insured population have also compelled payers to better
leverage their central role as the organizers of the healthcare

i

supply chain. We have begun to see some of our customers

care management strategies shift from outsourcing to insourcing.

Payers are recognizing that care management will quickly
become a required cocmpetency for connecting to members

in an increasingly consumer-retail world of healthcare.

We initiated a relationship with CareKey, Inc. near the end
of 2003 to address this cpportunity. CareKey had
developed a suite of very powerful software applications

10 help manage the cost and quality of care. As we began
integrating and selling those products to our existing
customers, TriZetto was positioned to offer sclutions for the
approximately 86% of a health plan's premium dollars that
are spent on the cost of care. This represented a dramatic
market expansion for TriZetto. lh 2005, the TriZetto-branded
CareAdvance products generated nearly $30 million of
new contract bookings, more than any of our other new
software products. Based on that success and the future
opportunity to open doors with new customers, TriZetto
acquired CareKey in December 2005. The acquisition
allowed another expansion of our market, as our prior
agreement with CareKey had restricted us to selling to only
our existing Facets customers. Today, TriZetto can provide

CareAdvance solutions across the entire industry.

As health plans develop more of a consumer-retail relationship
with their members, CareAdvance becomes much more
than an add-on component, as we initially had considered it.
The product suite benefits care activities and costs across
many payer business cycles, and is more properly classified
as an enterprise-level application. Qur product chart at the

front of this year’s annual report refiects that change.

TriZetto continued to move up-market in 2005, growing its
business with behemoth and super-behemoth payers, for
whom scalability is critical. Our products, such as our
flagship Facets administration system, are architected for
high throughput and scalability. Last year, utilizing a customer’s
real data, we demonstrated scalabllity for 5.4 million lives

in a single database. Only five of the largest managed-care
organization or network subsidiaries in the U.S. have higher
enroliments. We also had more than 7 million members’

hosted lives running in our data center at year-end.

TriZetto'’s leading technology solutions are the result of our
ongoing investment and commitment to research
and development, which including capitalized research and

development, totaled more than $40 million last year.
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We are, of course, already developing the information-technology
tools for the future. With nearly half of the insured population
projected to change its health insurance coverage over the

next five years, we continue our drive to sustain the highest-

value set of industrial-strength solutions for the payer industry.

increase Business Leverage

We set out in 2005 to leverage the many process improve-
ments and investments we had initiated in the prior year.

A substantially strengthened sales-pipeline management
process delivered tremendous returns in 2005, and we
were pleased to consistently deliver results that were at,

or above, plan each guarter. At the same time, improved
processes In other areas, including business planning,
strategic pricing, product commercialization and capital
initiatives, increased the return on our investments.

Many of these activities previously had been siloed in
individual product-focused business units. Our President
and Chief Operating Officer, Kathleen Earley, has done

a tremendous job to create and lead these sustainable
process changes. Of course, we have much more to
accomplish, and Kathleen’s concentration in 2008 will
include process improvements to our software development,

testing and quality assurance, as well as customer service.

In 2005, we completed the exit of certain business lines,
begun the year before. These included hosting and
business process outsourcing services on competing
software platforms, and the physician practice business.
Exiting these lines of business reduced our revenue

growth, but contributed significantly to raising margins.

Because of the greater leverage driven by these actions
in 2005, gross margin increased 760 basis points to 46%,
return on assets doubled and cash flow from operations

increased 22% over 2004.

Over the course of the year, TriZetto's financial strength
grew substantially. Our solid quarterly results drove
share-price appreciation and investor interest that allowed
us to complete a convertible bond offering in September,
which netted $82 million of cash. Combined with the
company’s growing cash generated by operations,

TriZetto finished the year with $108 million in cash and

cash equivalents on the balance sheet. Since year-end,
Wells Fargo Foothill doubled our revolving credit facility
to $100 million. TriZetto has never enjoyed a stronger

financial foundation,

Expand Customer-Focused Culture

In the company’s early years, nearly all of our team was
comprised of people from inside the payer industry.
Because everyone understood the market, we focused

our culture towards product excellence. In recent years,
we substantially expanded our array of products and
services. As the company has matured and grown, we
also have added new people, many of whom have brought
valuable expertise from other industries. TriZetto’s increased
product complexity and team diversity require us to

build processes that help educate and align everyone with

our customers.

[n 2005, we made significant investments towards that goal.
We began by adding to the sales force and restructuring
how our salespeople, solutions architects and account
relationship executives connect with our customers.

We expanded training and refined our sales compensation
models to drive responsiveness to customers’ needs as well
as reward the selling of integrated, cross-unit solutions that

solve customers’ business problems.

We broke down silos between product groups and developed
a common solutions focus among business unit leaders.
This, tog, is reinforced by compensation and individual
performance objectives. As you read this year's report, you'll
note that our selling, general and administrative expenses
increased from the year before. This reflects our conscious
and targeted investment in making these types of changes
to our business, which include adding new positions and

skills to support this heightened customer-solutions approach.

As | highlighted earlier, we updated our vision and mission
statements, as well as our operating principles for employees.
This represents the first major update since TriZetto’s inception.
| believe that we have been able to blend our tremendous
domain expertise with the increasing business acumen

of our management team to Create a more sustainable

organization. It is essential that cur employees can apply




In millions, except per share amounts

Years ended December 31

Total revenue
Software license and maintenance
Outsourced services
Professional services, consuiting and other
EPS: Net income (loss) per share (diluted)
Shares used in computing net income (loss) per share (diluted)
Net cash provided by operating activities
Research and developmant expenses,
and capitalization of software development costs
Cash resources: Cash, restricted cash and short-term investments
Total assets
Total debt: Notes payable, revolving line of credit
and capital lease obligations
Stockholders' equity

2005 | Revenue by Category

O mritltons of elollrs)

Wl Reourring Revenue (] Non-Recurring Revenue

Professional
Services,
Consulting
and Other
$83.4

Software License
$48.7

Software
Maintenance
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these concepts each day, and early evidence suggests
that is occurring. Ultimately, the best evidence of our
success is reflected in our sales and customer satisfaction.
Customers contracted for near!y $300 million of our
products and services last year, and 84% of our customers

rated themselves as satisfied or very satisfied, overall.

In summary, 2005 was a year of tremendous change in the
industry and progress at TriZetto. But | believe we are just

at the beginning of sweeping changes, as nearly half of the
insured population may convert its coverage to consumer-
retail models. These changes affect commercial benefit
plans, whether employer-sponsored or individually paid, as
well as government programs, such as Medicare Advantage,
Medicare Part D and Managed Medicaid. Like a hundred-

year flood, this is a rare opportunity, and risk, for payers.

Looking ahead, let me highlight my key predictions for
2008. In addition to forecasting the industry’s development,

these will give you a good feel for TriZetto's strategy.

1. Health plans will offer individual consumers both
transportable personal health records and itemized
economic healthcare statements - or face consumer
disintermediation from provider-based regional health

information networks (RHIOs) and banks.

2. Health plans will more aggressively “direct connect”
with their various constituents without using clearinghouses,
creating an array of new high-value transactions among

consumers, providers and themselves.

3. Despite a membership oligopoly over the next decade,
“super-behemoth” health plans may not dominate effective
application of information technology (1.T.), due to lack of
integrated |.T. solutions - providing regional players with an
opportunity to compete on all dimensions except for pure

low-cost provider networks,

4. As baby boomers swell the Medicare population,
they will drive unprecedented demand for onling, real-time
services at home, traveling and at their point-of-service

provider or supplier.

5. The ability to accurately determine “patient liability at the
point of service” will drive the most profound changes
experienced in the U.S. healthcare system over the past
several decades - redefining not only consumer behaviors,

but also health plan-provider relationships in a positive way.

6. The Federal government will begin to recognize and
utilize 1.T. best practices from private payers — or further
diminish economic viability of Centers for Medicare &

Medicaid Services (CMS) programs.

The rise of consumer-retail healthcare accelerated dramatically
in 2005. Helping our customers capitalize on this trend
contributed to strong financial returns for TriZetto and its
shareholders. | believe the biggest part of the opportunity

is yet to come, as payers are only beginning to understand
the ramifications of having direct, retall relationships with
consumers., Although ! believe TriZetto is forward-thinking in
this regard, we 100 are learning a great deal about how

the changing landscape affects our payer customers and
the consumers to whom they provide health benefits.

Our research indicates that over a five-year market horizon,
consumer retail principles will find their way into approximately
100 million insured lives in the U.S., including government

sponsored managed Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Trizetto is building on its substantial market share of
one-third of the 100 largest health plans in the U.S. and
89 million lives in production on its software. The faster
the industry changes, the greater the impetus for payers
to make improvements to their information systems.

| am confident that TriZetto is well positioned to help our
customers, and in turn, benefit our shareholders. | look

forward to reporting our continuing progress.

Sincerely,

Yo/ Vo

Jeffrey H. Margolis
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
April 10, 2006
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data, except as noted herein, has been taken or derived from our audited consolidated
financial statement and should be read in conjunction with the full consolidated financial statements included herein.

|

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2004 \

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2008 2003 2002 2001
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Revenue:
Recurring revenue $160,137 $158,981 $180,973 $159,178 $142,706
Non-recurring revenug 132,082 115,584 129,356 105,972 75,466
TJotal revenue 282,219 274,565 \ 290,329 265,150 218,172
Cost of revenue:
Recurring revenue 95,699 107,825 115,812 114,609 103,854
Non-recurring revenue 65,706 63,126 93,244 63,311 42,806
161,405 170,951 \ 209,056 177,820 146,680
Recurring revenue— (recovery from) loss on contractsm  (2,877) (5,886) 11,271 — —
Non-recurring revenue —1oss on contracts® — 4,533 3,680 — —
(2,877) {1,353) | 14,951 — —
Total cost of revenue 158,528 169,598 | 224,007 177.820 146,660
Gross profit 133,691 104,967 \ 66,322 87,330 71,512
Operating expenses:
Research and development 31,655 30,398 24,823 21,811 16,402
Selling, general and administrative 76,758 59,980 52,138 53,966 51,938
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets@ 2,885 4,244 10,908 28,027 69,076
Restructuring and impairment charges® — — 3,763 651 12,140
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets® — — — 131,019 —
Total operating expenses 111,298 94,622 \ 31,638 235,574 149,558
Income {loss) from operations 22,393 10,345 (25,316) (148,244) (78,044)
Interest income 1,619 583 370 1,609 2,048
Interest expense (1,579) (1,369) (2,0085) (1,479) {1,333)
Income (loss) before benefit from
(provision for) income taxes 22,433 9,559 (26,351) {148,114) (77,329)
{Provision for) benefit from income taxes (412) {1,101) (1,124) {250) 16,175
Net income (loss) $ 22,021 $ 8,458 $ (27,475) $(148,364) $ (61,154)
Net income (loss) per share: \
Basic $ 0.62 $ 018 $ (0.0 $  (3.28 $ 1.63)
Diluted $ 048 $ 0.18 $  (0.60) $  (3.28 $ (1.53
Shares used in computing net income (loss) per share: \
Basic 41,948 48,794 46,170 4£,256 40,094
Diluted 45,503 48,157 \ 46,170 45,256 40,094
\\DECEMBER 31,
(IN THOUSANDS) 2005 2004 \ 2003 2002 2001
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Cash, cash eguivalents, restricted cash,
and short-term investments $108,483 $ 73,147 $ 76,347 $ 81,117 $ 84,633
Total assets 317,739 239,884 \233 308 237,996 390,721
Total short-term debt and capital lease obligations 2,099 43,786 34,920 17,921 19,607
Total long-term debt and capital lease obligations 101,065 13,838 7,185 15,116 9,699
Total stockholders’ equity 101,358 86,933 113,523 137,414 280,955

m During the fourth quarter of 2003, we decided to wind-down our outsourcing services to physician group
customers, As a result of this decision, we estimated that the existing customer agreements would
generate a total loss of $11.3 miflion until the terms of these agreements expired in 2008. This loss was
charged to recurring cost of revenue in the fourth guarter of 2003. Through discussions and negotia-
tiong, we were able to accelerate the termination of our services agreements with certain physician group
customers and implemented cost cutting maasures that reduced the expected future costs to support
aur rematning customers. As a result of these actions, we were able 10 reverse approximately $5.9 mii-
lion af previously accrued loss on contracts charges in 2004. Early in the second quarter of 2005, we
execuled termination agreements with our two remaining physician group customers. We continued to
provide outsourced business services through May 2005, when the transition services were completed.
The completion of these services to the remaining customers aflowed us to reverse the remaining bal-
ance in the loss on contracts accrual of $2.¢ million in the second quarter of 2005, The total amount of
loss actually incurred related to the outsourcing services to physician group customers was $2.1 million
In 2004 and $403,000 in the first six moriths of 2005.

In December 2003, we negotiated a settlement regarding out-of-scope work refated to one of our large
fixed fee implementation projects. As a result of this settlement. we estimated that this project would
generate a total loss of $3.7 million untit its completion, which was expected to occur in mid-2004. This
loss was charged to non-recurring cost of revenue in the fourth quarter of 2003, In 2004, we determined
that the large fixed fee implementation project would require a greater effort to complete than previously
estimated. As a result, we accrued an additional $5.0 milion of loss on contracts charges in the first
six months of 2004. In the fourth quarter ¢f 2004, we negotiated a settlement of additional out-of-
scope work, which decreased the total loss on the project and resulted in the reversal of approximately
$456,000 of previousty accrued lass an contracts charges. This fixed fee implementation was complated
by nd of the frst quaner of 2005 The total amount of loss actually incurred on this project was $7.7

@ As of January 1, 2002, we adopted the rules set forth in Financial Accounting Standards Board
Statement (“FASB") No. 142, Goodwwl\ and Other Intangible Assets,” effective for fiscal years baginning
after December 15, 2001, which slates that goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite
lives will be subject to annual 4mpaxrment tests instead of being amortized. Effective January 1, 2002,
goedwill, along with acquired workiorce reclassified to goodwill in accordance withh FASE Statement No.
142, are no tonger being amortized.

?) in December 2001, we initiated a number of restructuring actions focused on efiminating redundanciss,
streamlining operations and Arnprovmg overall financial results. These initiatives inclided workforce reduc-
tions, office closures, discortinuation] of certain business flines and related asset vrrita-offs. in the fourth
quarter of 2003, approximately $280‘000 of restructuring expense was reversed related to the lease
seftiements for the facility closures in Naperville, liinois and Westmont, lincis, which were previously
accrued for in fiscal year 2001, As a|result of our decision in the fourth quarter af 2003 to wind-down
our autsourcing services to phyS\CIan groups and to discontinue our outsourcing services to certain
non-Facets® payer customers, we esumated that our future net cash flows from tha assets used in these
businesses would recover their net book value, Accordingly, a total charge of $4.0 million was taken as a
restructuring and impairment charge l(’\ the fourth quarter of 2003, which represenied the net book valus
of these assets. The assets were wrm\en off in the first quarter of 2004,

) Atter the end of the fourth quarter of 2002, our market capitalization decreased to aifevel that requirad us
to perform additional analyses under FASB Statement No. 142 to quantity the amount of impairment to
goadwill. This analysis resulted in an 1mparrmem charge to goodwill of $97.5 million as of December 31,
2002. The decreasa in market caprtahzation was also an indicator that our other intangible assets might
also be impaired as of December 31, 2002, and they were also tested for impairment in accordance
with FASB Statement No. 144, “Acceunting for the Impairment ar Disnnsal nf I anful had Ananta @ Tha
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OVERVIEW

We offer a broad porticlio of proprietary information technology
products and services targeted to the payer industry, which is
comprised of health insurance plans and third party benefits
administrators. We offer: enterprise administration software,
including Facets Extended Enterprise™ and Qiclink Extended
Enterprise™; specialized component software, including our
NetworX™ products for provider network management,
CareAdvance™ care management software, HealthWeb® suite of
web interface tools, CDH Account Management and Workflow
add-on modules for Facets® and DirectlLink™ direct connectivity
claims transaction software; software hosting services and business
process outsourcing services, which provide variable cost alternatives
to licensing software; and strategic, installation, and optimization
consulting services. We provide products and services to 357
unique customers in the health plan and benefits administrator
markets, which we refer to as payers. In 2005, these markets
represented 88% and 12% of our total revenue, respectively. As
of December 31, 2005, we were no longer providing services to
physician group customers.

We measure financial performance by monitoring recurring revenue
and non-recurring revenue, bookings and backlog, gross profit,
and net income (loss). Total revenue for 2005 was $292.2 million
compared to $274.6 million in 2004. Recurring revenue for 2005
was $160.1 milion compared to $158.0 million in 2004. Non-recurring
revenue for 2005 was $132.1 million compared to $115.6 million in
2004. Bookings for 2005 were $296.6 milion compared to $335.3
million in 2004. Backlog at December 31, 2005 was $703.4 million
compared to $585.0 million at December 31, 2004. Gross profit
was $133.7 million in 2005 compared to $105.0 million in 2004,
Net income in 2005 was $22.0 million comparsd to $8.5 million
in 2004. These financial comparisons are further explained in the
section below, “Results of Operations.”

We generate recurring revenue from several sources, including
the provision of outsourcing services, such as software hosting
and business process outsourcing services, and the sale of main-
tenance and support for our proprietary and certain of our
non-proprietary software products. We generate non-recurring
revenue from the licensing of our software and from consulting fees
for implementation, installation, configuration, business process
engineering, data conversion, testing and training related to the
use of our proprietary, and third-party licensed products. Cost of
revenue includes costs related to the products and services we
provide to our custcmers and costs associated with the operation
and maintenance of our customer connectivity centers. These costs
include salaries and related expenses for consulting personnel,
customer connectivity centers’ personnel, customer support person-
nel, application software license fees, amortization of capitalized
software development costs, telecommunications costs, and main-
tenance costs. Research and development (“R&D"} expenses are

salaries and related expenses associated with the development of
software applications prior to establishing technological feasibility.
Such expenses include compensation paid to software engineer-
ing personnel and fees to outside contractors and consuftants.
Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of
salaries and related expenses for sales, sales commissions,
account management, marketing, administrative, finance, legal,
human resources and executive personnel, and fees for certain
professional services.

As part of our growth strategy, we intend to increase revenue per
customer by continuing to introduce new complementary products
and services to our established enterptise software and hosting
and business process outsourcing services. Many of these service
offerings, including hosting, business process outsourcing, and
consulting have a higher cost of revenue, resulting in lower gross
profit margins. Therefore, to the extent that our revenue increases
through the sale of these lower margin product and service offerings,
our total gross profit margin may decrease.

We are continuing to target larger health plan customers. This has
given us the opportunity to sell additional services such as software
hosting, business intelligence, and business process outsourcing
services. As the technology requirements of our customers become
more sophisticated, cur service offerings have become more complex.
This has lengthened our sales cycles and made it more difficult
for us to predict the timing of our software and services sales.

On September 1, 2003, Caventry Health Care, Inc. (“Coventry”)
acquired Altius Health Plans, Inc. ("Altius"), one of our outsourced
services customers. As a result, our services agreement with Altius
was terminated effective May 31, 2004. Revenue from the Altius
services agreement was $22.1 million in 2003, which included a
$2.2 million termination fee, and $9.3 million in 2004 through the
date of termination.

In late 2003, a management decision was made to exit certain
non-strategic and less profitable product offerings and business
lines. This decision included winding down services related to our
physician group customers, as well as the planned elimination of
our hosting and business process outsourcing services for two
competing third-party software platforms. Early in the second
quarter of 2005, we executed termination agreements with two of
our remaining physician group customers. We continued to provide
outsourced business services through May 2005, when the transition
services were completed.

In the second quarter of 2004, we initiated certain cost contain-
ment efforts, which included workforce reductions, modifications to
certain employee benefit programs and other actions. We realized
a significant pertion of these benefits in the third and fourth quarters
of 2004.
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In December 2004, our management and administrative services
agreement with Preferred Health Networks, Inc. (“PHN”), was
amended to substantially reduce the scope of our hosting and
business process outsourcing services. PHN requested an extension
of these reduced services through March 31, 2008, when it plans
to complete the wind-down of its operations. Revenue from the
PHN management and administrative services agreement was
$640,000 in 2005 and $4.5 million in 2004.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of
operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments
that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, revenues
and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of our financial statements. Those estimates are
based on our experience, terms of existing contracts, observance of
trends in the industry, information provided by our customers and
information available from other outside sources, which are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

The following critical accounting policies affect the more significant
judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consoli-
dated financial statements, and may potentially result in materially
different results under different assumptions and conditions. We have
identified the following as critical accounting policies to our company:

* Revenue recognition;

* Up-front payments to customers;

* Sales returns and allowance doubtful accounts;

* Capitalization of software development costs;

* Loss on contracts;

* Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets;
* Litigation accruals;

* Bonus accruals; and

» Income taxes.

This listing is not a comprehensive list of all of our accounting
policies. For a detailed discussion on the application of these and
other accounting policies, see Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

REVENUE RECOGNITION. We recognize revenue when persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, the product or service has been
delivered, fees are fixed or determinable, collection is reasonably
assured and all other significant obligations have been fulfilled.
Our revenue is classified into two categories: recurring and nen-
recurring. For the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately
55% of our total revenue was recurring and 45% was non-recurring.

We generate recurring revenue from several sources, including
the provision of outsourcing services, such as software hosting
and other business services, and the sale of maintenance and

support for our propr}etary software products. Recurring services

revenue is typically billed and recognized monthly over the contract
term, typically three|to seven years. Many of our outsourcing

agreements require Us to maintain a ceriain level of operating

performance. We récord revenue net of estimated penalties

resulting from any fail‘ure to maintain the level of operating perfor-

mance. These penalt‘ies have not been significant in the past.
Recurring software maintenance revenue is typically based on

| .
one-year renewable contracts. Software maintenance and support

revenues are recognized ratably over the contract period. Payment

for software maintena‘nce received in advance is recorded on the
balance sheet as deferred revenue. Certain royalty costs paid to

third-party software vendors associated with software mainte-
nance are amortized over the software maintenance period.

We generate non—recurr‘ing revenue from the licensing of our software.
We follow the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Commission

Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition,” AICPA

Statement of Position (“§OP”) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,”

as amended, EITF 00-3, “Application of AICPA Statement of

Position 97-2 to Arra‘ngemems That Include the Right to Use

Software Stored on A‘nother Entity’s Hardware,” and EITF Issue
00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Muiltiple Deliverables.”

. S . .
Software license revenue is recognized upon the execution of a

license agreement, upon delivery of the software, when fees are
fixed or determinable, when collectibility is probable and when all

other significant obligations have been fulfiled. For software
license agreements in \‘/VhiCh customer acceptance is a significant

condition of earning the license fees, revenue is not recognized

until acceptance occulrs. For software license agreements that
require significant customizations or medifications of the software,

. . \ - .
revenue is recognized as the customization services are performed.

For arrangements cont‘aining multiple elements, such as software
license, consulting servi\ces, outsourcing services and maintenance,
and where vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE") of fair

value exists for all undelivered elements, we account for the delivered

elements in accordance with the “residual method.” Under the

residual method, the %rrangement fee is recognized as follows:

(1) the total fair value of the undelivered elements, as indicated by
VSOE, is deferred and subsequently recognized in accordance

with the relevant secti\ons of SOP 97-2 and (2) the difference
between the total arraTgement fee and the amount deferred for

the undelivered elements is recognized as revenue related to the

delivered elements. Fo‘r arrangements in which VSOE does not
exist for each undelivered element, including specified upgrades,

revenue for the delivere‘d element is deferred and not recognized

until VSCE is available for the undelivered element or delivery of

each element has occ‘urred. When multiple products are sold
within a discounted arrangement, a proportionate amount of the

discount is applied to e‘ach product based on each product’s fair

value or relative list price.

23
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We also generate non-recurring revenue from set-up fees, which
are services, hardware, and software associated with preparing
our customer connectivity center or a customer’s data center in
order to ready a specific customer for software hosting services.
The set-up fees are usually separate and distinct from the hosting fees,
and performance of the set-up services represents a culmination
of the earnings process. We recognize revenue for these services
as they are performed using the percentage of completion basis and
when we can reasonably estimate the cost of the set-up project.

We also generate non-recurring revenue from consulting fees for
implementation, installation, configuration, business process
engineering, data conversion, testing and training related to the
use of our proprietary and third party licensed products. In certain
instances, we also generate non-recurring revenue from custom-
ization services of our proprietary licensed products. We recognize
revenue for these services as they are performed, if contracted
on a time and materials basis, or using the percentage of com-
pletion method, if contracted on a fixed fee basis and when we
can adeguately estimate the cost of the consulting project.
Percentage of completion is measured based on cost incurred to
date compared to total estimated cost at completion. When we
cannot reasonably estimate the cost to complete, we recognize
revenue using the completed contract method, upon completion
of all contractual obligations.

We also generate ron-recurring revenue from certain one-time
charges, including certain contractual fees such as termination fees
and change of control fees, and we recognize the revenus for these
fees once the termination or change of control is guaranteed,
there are no remaining substantive performance obligations, and
collection is reasonably assured. Other non-recurring revenue is also
generated from fees related to cur product related conferences.

UP-FRONT PAYMENTS TO CUSTOMERS. We may pay certain
up-front amounts to our customers in connection with the estab-
lishment of our hosting and outsourcing services contracts. These
payments are regarded as discounts to the services contracts.
Under EITF 01-8, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor
to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor's Products),”
these payments are capitalized and amortized over the life of the
contract as a reduction to revenue, provided that such amounts are
recoverable from fuiure revenue under the contract. If an up-front
payment is not recoverable from future revenue, or it cannot be
offset by contract cancellation penalties paid by the customer, the
amount will be written off as an expense in the period it is deemed
unrecoverable. Unamortized up-front payments to customers
were $7.7 million and $1.3 million as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

SALES RETURNS AND ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS.
We maintain an allowance for sales returns 1o reserve for estimated
discounts, pricing adjustments, and other sales allowances. The
reserve i charged to revenue in amounts sufficient to maintain
the allowance at a level we believe is adequate based on historical

experience and current trends. We also maintain an allowance for
doubtful accounts to reflect estimated losses resulting from the
inability of customers to make required payments. We base this
allowance on estimates after consideration of factors such as the
composition of the accounts receivable aging and bad debt history
and our evaluation of the financial condition of the customers. If
the financial condition of customers were to deteriorate, resulting
in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
sales allowances and bad debt expense may be required. We
typically do not require collateral. Historically, our estimates for
sates returns and doubtful account reserves have been adequate
1o cover accounts receivable exposures. We continually monitor
these reserves and make adjustments to these provisions when
we believe actual credits or other allowances may differ from
established reserves.

CAPITALIZATION OF SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS. The
capitalization of software costs includes developed technology
acquired in acquisitions and costs incurred by us in developing
our products that qualify for capitalization. We account for our
software development costs, other than costs for internal-use
software, in accordance with FASB Statement No. 86, “Accounting
for Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise
Marketed.” We capitalize costs associated with product develop-
ment, coding, and testing subseguent to establishing technolegical
feasibility of the product. Technological feasibility is established
after completion of a detailed program design or working model.
Capitalization of computer software costs ceases upon a product’s
general availability release. Capitalized software development costs
are amortized over the estimated useful life of the software product
starting from the date of general availability.

On a quarterly basis, we monitor the expected net realizable
value of the capitalized software for factors that would indicate
impairment, such as a decline in the demand, the introduction of
new technology, or the loss of a significant customer. As of
December 31, 2005, our evaluation determined that the carrying
amount of these assets was not impaired.

LOSS ON CONTRACTS. During the fourth quarter of 2003, we
decided to wind-down our outsourcing services to physician
group customers. As a result of this decision, we estimated that
the existing customer agreements would generate a total loss of
$11.3 million until the terms of these agreements expired in 2008.
This loss was charged to recurring cost of revenue in the fourth
quarter of 2003, Through discussions and negotiations, we were
able to accelerate the termination of our services agreements
with certain physician group customers and implemented cost
cutting measures that reduced the expected future costs to support
our remaining customers. As a result of these actions, we were
able to reverse approximately $5.9 million cf previously accrued
loss on contracts charges in 2004, Early in the second quarter of
2005, we executed termination agreements with our two remaining
physician group customers. We continued to provide outsourced
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business services through May 2005, when the transition services
were completed. The completion of these services to the remaining
customers allowed us to reverse the remaining balance in the
loss on contracts accrual of $2.9 million in the second quarter of
2005. The total amount oi loss actually incurred related to the
outsourcing services to physician group customers was $2.1 million
in 2004 and $403,000 in the first six months of 2005.

In December 2003, we negotiated a settlement regarding out-of-
scope work related to one of our farge fixed fee implementation
projects. As a result of this settlement, we estimated that
the project would generate a total loss of $3.7 million until its
completion, which was expected to occur in mid-2004, This loss
was charged to non-recurring cost of revenue in the fourth quarter
of 2003. In 2004, we determined that the large fixed fee imple-
mentation project would require a greater effort to complete than
previously estimated. As a result, we accrued an additional $5.0
million of loss on contracts charges in the first six months of 2004.
In the fourth quarter of 2004, we negotiated a settlement of additional
out-of-scope work, which decreased the total loss on the project
and resulted in the reversal of approximately $455,000 of previously
accrued loss on contracts charges. This fixed fee implementation
was-completed by the end of the first quarter of 2005. The total
amount of loss actually incurred on this project was $7.7 million
in 2004 and $484,000 in the first quarter of 2005. Anticipated
losses on fixed price contracts are accrued in the period in which
they become known.

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS.
Under FASB Statement No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets,” goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite
lives are subject to annual (or more often if indicators of impairment
exist) impairment tests using a two-step process. The first step
looks for indicators of impairment. if indicators of impairment are
revealed in the first step, then the second step is conducted to
measure the amount of the impairment, if any. We adopted FASB
Statement No. 142 effective as of January 1, 2002, We performed
our annual impairment test on March 31, 2005, and this test did
not reveal indications of impzairment.

LITIGATION ACCRUALS. Pending unsettled lawsuits involve complex
questions of fact and law and may require expenditure of significant
funds. From time to time, we may enter into confidential discussions
regarding the potential settlement of such lawsuits; however,
there can be no assurance that any such discussions will occur
or will result in a settlement. Moreover, the settlement of any
pending litigation could require us to incur settlement payments
and costs. In the period in which a new legal case arises, an
expense will be accrued if our liability to the other party is probable
and can be reasonably estimated. On a quarterly basis, we review
and analyze the adequacy of our accruals for each individual case
for all pending litigations. Adjustments are recorded as needed to
ensure appropriate levels of reserve. Our attorney fees and other
defense costs related to litigation are expensed as incurred.

BONUS ACCRUALS. Our corporate bonus model is designed to
project the level of fu‘nding required under the corporate bonus
program as approved by the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors. A|significant portion of the corporate bonus
program is based on the Company meeting certain financial
objectives, such as revenue, earnings per share, and the level of
capital spending. The expense related to the corporate bonus
program is accrued in~ the year of performance and paid in the
first quarter following the fiscal year end. The corporate bonus
model is analyzed on a quarterly basis to identify any necessary
adjustments to the acc~rual in order to ensure appropriate funding
for year-end.

INCOME TAXES. We ‘account for income taxes under FASB
Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” This state-
ment requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities
for the future consequénces of events that have been recognized
in our financial statemiants or tax returns. The measurement of
the deferred items is based on enacted tax laws. [n the event the

I, . ) . .
future consequences of differences between financial reporting

bases and the tax bas‘es of our assets and liabilities result in a
deferred tax asset, FASB Statement No. 109 requires an evaluation
of the probability of beiné; able to realize the future benefits indicated
by such asset. A valua‘ltion allowance related to a deferred tax
asset is recorded when it is more likely than not that some portion

of the deferred tax asse‘t will not be realized. We review the need

for a valuation aIIowanée on a quarterly basis. We believe suffi-
clent uncertainty exists [regarding the realizability of our deferred
tax assets such that a full valuation allowance is required on our net
deferred tax assets at D‘ecember 31, 2005. Subsequent evidence
including continued positive earnings trends may diminish this
uncertainty to the point|where we conclude that it is more likely
than not that some or alllof our deferred tax assets will be realized.
If and when we decrease the valuation allowance, approximately

$16.6 million will be allo‘cated to income tax benefit, $6.2 million

will be recorded as an gdjustment to goodwill, and $5.2 million
will be recorded as an|adjustment to equity for the benefit of

employee stock option exercises.

RECENT ACCOUNTING |[PRONOUNCEMENTS

In December 2004, the |FASB issued FASB Statement No. 123
(Revised 2004) “Share Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), which is
a revision to FASB Statement No. 123 and supersedes Accounting
Principles Board Opinion 25 and FASB Statement No. 148. This
statement requires that ‘the cost resulting from ail share-based
payment transactions be recognized in the financial statements.
This statement establishes fair value as the measuremeant objective
in accounting for share—bésed payment arrangements and requires
all entities to apply a fair-value based measurement method in
accounting for share-based payment transactions with employees
except for equity instrum\ents held by employee share ownership
plans. SFAS 123R applies to all awards granted after the required

effective date and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled

7R
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after that date. As of the reguired effective date, all public entities
that used the fair-value-based method for either recognition or
disclosure under FASB Statement No. 123 may apply this
Statement using a madified version of prospective application.
Under that transition method, compensation cost is recognized
on or after the required effective date for the portion of outstand-
ing awards for which the requisite service has not yet been
rendered, based on the grant-date fair value of those awards
calculated under FASB Statement No. 123 for either recognition
or pro forma disclosures. For periods before the required effective
date, those entities may elect to apply a modified version of the
retrospective application under which financial statements for prior
periods are adjusted on a basis consistent with the pro forma
disclosures required for those periods by FASB Statement No. 123.

In April 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC”)
approved a new rule that delayed the effective date of SFAS
123R. For most public companies, the delay eliminates the com-
parability issues that would arise from adopting SFAS 123R in the
middle of their fiscal years as originally called for by SFAS 123R.
Except for this deferral of the effective date, the guidance in SFAS
123R is unchanged. Under the SEC’s rule, SFAS 123R is now
effective for public companies for annual, rather than interim,
periods that begin after June 15, 2005. We have evaluated the
requirements under SFAS 123R and plan to adopt on January 1,
2008. We believe that such adoption will have a substantial impact
on our consolidated statements of operations and earnings per share.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 19, 2008, we and each of our subsidiaries {the
“Borrowers”), entered into Amendment Number Two to our Credit
Agreement (the “Amendment”) with Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc., as the
administrative agent and lender {the “Lender”). The Amendment
amends the terms of our Credit Agreement dated December 21,
2004, by and among the Borrowers and the Lender (the “Agreement”).

The Amendment increases the amount of the revolving credit
facility under the Agreement from $50 million to up to $100 millien
(the “Facility”), subject to certain fixed percentages of our recurring
revenues, and extends the expiration date of the Agreement to
January 5, 2010. Under the terms of the Amendment, the principal
outstanding under the Facility will bear interest at a per annum
rate equal to either (j) the LIBOR rate plus an adjustable applicable
margin of between 1.756% and 2.25% or (ii) Wells Fargo’s prime
rate plus an adjustable applicable margin of between 0.0% and
0.5%, at the election of the Borrowers, subject to specified
restrictions, The unused portions of the Facil'ty will be subject to
unused Facility fees. In the event the Borrowers terminate the
Agreement, as amended by the Amendment, prior to its expiration,
the Borrowers will be required to pay the Lender a termination fee
equal to 2% of the maximum credit amount if the Agreement is
terminated prior to the second anniversary of the Agreement or
1% of the maximum credit amount if the Agreement is terminated
thereafter, up to 90 days prior to the expiration date of the
Agreement, subject to specified exceptions.

We expect to use the proceeds for general working capital purposes.
Under the Agreement, as amended by the Amendment, the
Borrowers have granted the Lender a security interest in all of the
assets of the Borrowers.

The Agreement, as amended by the Amendment, contains
customary affirmative and negative covenarits for credit facilities
of this type, including limitations on the Borrowers with respect to
indebtedness, liens, investments, distributions, mergers and
acquisitions, dispositions of assets and transactions with affiliates
of the Borrowers. The Agreement, as amended, also includes
financial covenants including minimum EBITDA, minimum liquidity,
minimum recurring revenue and maximum capital expenditures.
We were in compliance with all applicable covenants and other
restrictions under the Agreement as of the date of the Amendment.

On December 22, 2005, we completed our acquisition of CareKey.
Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger,
CareKey stockholders and optionholders weare entitied to receive
contingent consideration if certain customer retention conditions
were met as of February 15, 2008. These conditions were met as of
that date, and as a result, we expect to pay CareKey stockholders
and optionholders a total of $15.0 million on February 28, 20086.




MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

REVENUE INFORMATICON
Revenue by customer type and revenue mix for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, is as follows (amounts in thousands):

|
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 2004 2003

REVENUE BY CUSTOMER TYPE:

Health plans $256,162 88% $224,806 82% $234,244 81%
Benefits administration 35,915 12% 45,080 16% 45,140 15%
Provider 142 0% 4,679 2% 10,945 4%
Total revenue $292,219 100% $274,565 100% $290,329 100%
REVENUE MIX:
Recurring revenue
Outsourced business services $ 79,418 50% $ 89,916 57% $ 98,193 61%
Software maintenance 80,719 50% 69,065 43% 62,780 39%
Recurring revenue total 160,137 100% 158,981 100% 160,973 100%
Non-recurring revenue
Software license fees 48,736 37% 51,308 44% 45,688 35%
Consulting services 82,411 62% 63,424 55% 79,989 62%
Other non-recurring revenue 935 1% 852 1% 3,679 3%
Non-recurring revenue total 132,082 100% 115,584 \ 100% 129,356 100%
Total revenue $292,219 $274,565 | $290,329

from three to five years}. We classify revenue from software license
and consulting contrac‘ts as non-recurring. Consuliing revenue is
and United Healthcare Services, Inc., represented an aggregate of included in the backlog when the revenue from such consulting
approximately 26% of our consolidated revenue in 2005 and contract will be recogﬁized over a period exceeding 12 months,

these same two customers generated 15% and 11%, respectively, \ ) )
i 9 ] ) ) > P Y Backlog can change due to a number of factors, including unforeseen
of our consolidated revenues in 2005. No single customer

) changes in implementation schedules, contract cancellations
accounted for more than 10% of our accounts receivable and 9 P

subject to penalties paid by the customer), or customer financial
consolidated revenues in 2004 and 2003. { e : . P P | Y ) .
difficulties. In such ev?nt, unless we enter into new customer

As of December 31, 2005 we were providing services to approximately
357 unigue customers. Two of our customers, The Regence Group

Our total backlog is defined as the revenue we expect to generate
in future periods from existing customer contracts. Our 12-month
backlog is defined as the revenue we expect to generate from
existing customer contracts over the next 12 months. Most of the
revenue in our backlog is derived from multi-year recurring revenue
contracts (including software hosting, business process outsourcing,

agreements that generate enough revenue to replace or exceed
the revenue we expect|to generate from our backlog in any given
quarter, our backlog will decline. Our backlog at any date may

not indicate demand fo‘\r our products and services and may not
reflect actual revenue for any period in the future. Qur 12-month

and total backlog data ‘are as follows (in thousands):

{T autsourcing, and software maintenance with a period ranging

|

12/31/05 9/30/05 6/30/05 3/31/05 12/31/04 9/30/04 6/30/04 3/31/04 12/31/03
12-MONTH BACKLOG:

Recurring revenue $164,600 $157,800 $153,600 $148,000 $144,500 $1?7,900 $145200 $152,500 $158,100
Non-recurring revenue 20,500 36,700 21,200 24,000 28,600 23,300 19,300 9,100 11,900
Total $185,100 $194,500 $174,800 $172,000 $173,100 81 %1 200 $164,500 $161,600 $170,000
TOTAL BACKLOG:

Recurring revenue $668,700  $612,100 $615,000 $580,300 $555,800 $5§8,700 $544,800 $498,800 $483,800
Non-recurring revenue 34,700 51,000 23,900 24,500 29,200 27,900 22,100 8,100 12,600
Total $703,400 $663,100 $638,900 $604,800 $585,000 $5é6, 600 $566,900 $508,900 $496,200

Total guarterly bookings equal the estimated tota! dollar value of the contracts signed in the) quarter. Bookings can vary substantially
from quarter to quarter, based on a number of factors, including the number and type of prospec%s in our pipeline, the length of time it takes
a prospect to reach a decision and sign the contract, and the effectiveness of our sales force. Included in quarterly bookings are maintenance

revenue and hosting and other services revenue up to seven years. Bookings for each of the quarters are as follows (in thousands):

]
12/31/05 9/30/05 9/30/04

$ 83,100 $ 75,100

6/30/05 3/31/05 12/31/04

$85300 $ 53,100 $ 58800 $ ?'\\5,000 $ 120,500 & 81,000 §$ 48,800

6/30/04 3/31/04 12/31/03

Quarterly bookings
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

COMPARED TO THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004,
REVENUE. Total revenue increased $17.6 million, or 6.4%, to $292.2
million in 2005 from $274.6 million in 2004. Of this increase,
$1.1 million related to recurring revenue and $16.5 million related
to non-recurring revenue.

RECURRING REVENUE. Recurring revenue includes outsourced
business services (primarily software hosting and business process
outsourcing) and maintenance fees related to our software license
contracts. Recurring revenue increased $1.1 million, or 0.7%, to
$160.1 milion in 2005 from $159.0 million in 2004. This increase
was the result of increases of $11.6 million in software maintenance,
and $12.0 million of software hosting offsetting the loss of $22.5
million of outsourced business services revenue from exited
businesses and contracts. The overall increase of $11.6 million in
software maintenance revenue primarily resulted from sales of our
enterprise and component software in 2005, including Facets
Extended Enterprise™, QicLink Extended Enterprise™, NetworX™,
CareAdvance™ and HealthWeb®, Workflow and HIPAA Gateway™.
The overall decrease of $10.5 million in outsourced business senvices
revenue resulted primarily from (i) a $9.3 million deciine caused by
the scheduled termination of our services for Altius, (i) a $5.8 million
decline resulting from the wind-down of our services for PHN, (i}
a $4.1 million reduction resuilting from the planned wind-down of
our services to physician group customers, and (iv) a $3.3 million
decrease from the planned elimination of our hosting and business
process outsourcing services on certain competitive software
platforms. The effect of this $22.5 million decline in outsourced
business services revenue was offset in part by a net increase of
$12.0 million of additional revenue primarily from new Facets®
hosted customers and increased membership from existing
Facets® hosted and benefits administrator customers,

NON-RECURRING REVENUE. Non-recurring revenue includes
software license sales, consulting services revenue, and other
non-recurring revenue. Non-recurring revenue increased $16.5
miflion, or 14.3%, to $132.1 million in 2005 from $115.6 milion in
2004. This increase was the result of a $19.1 million increase in
consulting services and other non-recurring revenue due primarily
to the higher utilization of consulting resources on more profitable
implementation projects, offset in part by a $2.6 million decrease
due to timing of software license sales compared to 2004.

COST OF REVENUE. Cost of revenue decreased $11.1 million, or
6.5%, from $169.6 million in 2004 to $158.5 million in 2005. The
overall decrease in recurring cost of revenue of $12.1 million primarily
resulted from (i) reduced costs of $7.2 million asscciated with the
scheduled termination of our services for Altius, (i) a $4.6 million
reduction resulting from the planned wind-dcwn of our services
to physician group customers, (i} a decline of $3.5 million related
to the wind-down of our services for PHN, ard (iv) a $3.2 million
net increase in costs to support the additional outsourced business
services revenue from new Facets® hosted customers and existing
benefits administrator customers. The net increase of $3.2 million
represented higher incentive and compensation costs, increased
royalty expense related to license deals, new software and equipment
maintenance agreements, and new operating leases, which were
offset in part by reduced outsourced contractor expenses from the
completion of certain internal and customer related data center
projects and reduced costs related to cost containment efforts.
The increase in non-recurring cost of revenue of $2.5 million resulted
primarily from () an increase of $4.3 million i the amortization of
capitalized software development products related to the general
release of additional products and (i) $2.6 million in higher incentive
and compensation costs. The effect of this $6.8 million increase in
non-recurring cost of revenue was offset in part by a net decrease
of $4.3 million due primarily to lower outsourced consulting costs
related to the completion of a large fixed fee implementation project,
reduced royalty expense and hardware pass-through costs, lower
facilities expense related to an office closure, and a decrease in
overall travel expense. Additionally, total net loss on contracts
decreased $1.5 million due to a higher amount of reversal of
these charges in 2005 compared to the same period in 2004, as
described below.

LOSS ON CONTRACTS. We executed termination agreements
with our two remaining physician group customers in the second
quarter of 2005, allowing us to reverse the remaining balance in
our loss on contracts accrual of $2.9 million, which reduced our
total cost of revenue by an egual amount. In 2004, we reversed
$5.9 million of previously accrued recurring loss on contracts
charges due to the accelerated termination of certain physician
group contracts and the reduction of costs to support these
remaining contracts. Additionally, in 2004, we recorded a net
$4.5 million of non-recurring loss on contracts charges, which
primarily represented incremental hours required to complete a
certain fixed fee implementation. This fixed fee implementation
project was completed by the end of the first quarter of 2005.

As a percentage of total revenue, cost of revenue approximated
54% in 2005 and 62% in 2004 .
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GROSS MARGIN, As a percentage of total revenue, the overall
gross margin increased to 46% in 2005 from 38% in 2004. The
increase in gross margin percentage in 2005 was primarily the result
of (i) higher utilization of consulting resources on more profitable
implementation projects, (i) management’s decision to exit certain
non-strategic and less profitable product offerings and business
lines, (iii) broad-based improvements in new contract pricing, and
(iv) continued benefit from cost containment actions taken in late
2004 and overall operational efficiencies.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT (R&D) EXPENSES. R&D expenses
increased $1.3 million, or 4.1%, to $31.7 million in 2005 from $30.4
million in 2004. This net increase was due primarily to increased
spending related to the development of our proprietary software
for the heaith plan and benefits administrator markets. Most of
our R&D expense was used to continue our development of Facsts
Extended Enterprise™, which is a substantial upgrade of our flagship
software for health plans, and for the development of certain new
component software. Several enhancements were also made to
Qiclink™, a proprietary scftware product for benefits administrators
and HealthWeb®, our web-enable platform, which allows health
plans to exchange information on a secure basis over the Internet.
As a percentage of total revenue, R&D expenses approximated
11% in 2005 and 2004. R&D expenses, as a percentage of total
R&D expenditures (which includes capitalized R&D expenses of $8.6
million in 2005 and 2004), was 79% in 2005 and 78% in 2004.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE (SG&A) EXPENSES.
SG&A expenses increased $16.8 million, or 28.0%, to $76.8 millicn
in 2005 from $60.0 million in 2004. The overall increase resulted
primarily from (i) $8.8 million in higher personnel costs, including
higher incentive and compensation costs associated with certain
senior staff additions in late 2004 and higher commission
expenses incurred related to the timing of new contracts signed,
(i) a $3.0 million increase in outsourced services primarily for
strategic planning and process improvements, in addition to support
and enhancements related to our enterprise reporting system, (i) a
$3.1 million increase related primarily to defense costs for McKesson
in 2005 compared to lower costs in 2004, partially offset by a
$1.1 million insurance reimbursement received in 2005 related to
the ATPA litigation settlement, and (iv) approximately $1.9 million
in other expenses such as audit and compliance, executive travel,
sales and marketing, and other corporate support costs. SG&A
expenses also increased $1.1 million due to the collection of a
fully reserved note receivable in the second quarter of 2004,
which negatively affected the period comparison. As a percentage
of total revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses
approximated 26% in 2005 compared to 22% in 2004.

AMORTIZATION OF O\‘THER_ INTANGIBLE ASSETS. Amortization of

other intangible assets‘ decreased $1.3 milion, or 32.0%, from $4.2

million in 2004 to $2.9 million in 2005. The decrease was due

primarily to certain in\tanglble assets acquired in previous years,

which were fully amortized in 2005, partially offset by the amortization
of newly acquired intangible assets in mid-2004 and late 2005.
Future amortization expense related to existing intangible assets

is estimated to be as ‘\\foilows (in thousands):

|
FOR THE YEARS ENDING DECEMBER 31,

2006 $ 788
2007 772
2008 772
2008 333
2010 and thereafter 670

Total \ $3.335

Amortization expense related to existing intangible assets will vary
from amounts identified above in the event we recognize impair-
ment charges prior to| the amortized useful life of any intangible
assets. Additionally, amortization expense will vary from amounts
identified above when|the final valuation related to the CareKey
acquisition is complet\ed, and the allocation between goodwill
and identifiable intangible assets is recorded.

INTEREST INCOME. Inte‘rest income increased $1.0 million, or 178%,
to $1.6 million in 2005 from $583,000 in 2004. The increase is
due primarily to higher| cash balances attributed to the proceeds
from the convertible debt deal, as well as higher interest earned

X ) |
in our investment accounts.

INTEREST EXPENSE. lnt‘erest expense increased $210,000 or 15%,

to $1.6 million in 2005 from $1.4 million in 2004. The increase
relates primarily to interest incurred on the $100.0 million convertible
debt and borrowings on our revolving line of credit facility. The
effect of this increase V\Las offset in part by lower balances on our

capital leases and notes payable.

PROVISION FOR INCOM‘E TAXES. Provision for income taxes was
$412,000 in 2005 compared to $1.1 million in 2004. The provision

decrease is due toc a decrease in state income taxes from benefits
recorded for return to p~rovision adjustments related to 2004 state
taxes and refunds received related to prior years for which
income tax benefit was not previously recorded, offset partially by
an increase in Federal i%come taxes for alternative minimum tax.
The effective tax rate was 1.8% for 2005, which was lower than
the Federal statutory rate primarily due to the decrease in (release
of) valuation allowance, ‘which occurred as a result of utilization of
net operating loss ("NOLs") carryovers. The effective tax rate was

11.56% for 2004,
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004

COMPARED TO THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003.
REVENUE. Total revenue decreased $15.7 mitlion, or 5%, from
$290.3 million in 2003 to $274.6 million in 2004. Of this decrease,
$2.0 million related to recurring revenue and $13.7 million related
to non-recurring revenue. Adjusting for the effect of the scheduied
termination of aur services for Altius due to its’ acquisition by Coventry,
the wind-down of our services to physician group customers, the
planned elimination of our hosting and business process manage-
ment services on certain competitive software platforms, and the
unfavorable impact of a large fixed-fee implementation on our
consulting business, our revenue growth from 2003 to 2004 would
have been significantly higher.

RECURRING REVENUE. Recurring revenue decreased $2.0 million,
or 1%, from $161.0 million in 2003 to $159.0 million in 2004. This
decrease was the result of an $8.3 million decline in outsourced
business services, offset in part by an increase of $6.3 million in
software maintenance revenue. The overall decrease in outsourced
business services revenue primarily resulted from () a $10.6 million
decline caused by the scheduled termination of our services for
Altius, (i) & $6.2 million reduction resulting from the planned wind-
down of our services to physician group customers, and (i) a $4.1
million decrease from the planned elimination of our hosting and
business process management services on certain competitive
software platforms. The effect of this $20.9 million decline in
outsourced business services revenue was offset in part by (i) $4.8
million of additional revenue from new Facets® hosted customers
and from existing Facets® hosted customers whose membership
increased during 2004 and (i) $7.8 miliion in revenue from new
business process management contracts for business administration
customers and increased levels of transaction processing services
for our existing customers. The increase of $6.3 million in software
maintenance revenue was attributable to an $8.0 million increase
in revenue from our Facets® health plans and NetworX™ customers
due to new agreements and annual rate increases from our existing
customers, offset by a decrease of $1.7 miflion in revenue from our
benefits administration customers primarily due to the cancellation
of certain QicLink™ maintenance agreements.

NON-RECURRING REVENUE. Non-recurring revenue decreased
$13.7 miltion, or 11%, from $129.3 million in 2003 to $115.6 million
in 2004. This decrease was the result of a $16.8 million decrease
in consulting services revenue and a $2.8 million decrease in other
non-recurring revenue, offset by a $5.6 million increase in software
license sales. The decrease in consulting services revenue of $16.6
million was primarily related to the utilization of our consulting
resources on certain fixed fee implementations and various other
projects during 2004, The decrease in other non-recurring revenue
of $2.8 million was due primarily to the absence in 2004 of termi-
nation fees and change of control fees realized in 2003, primarily
related to Altius. Software license sales incraased $5.6 million
resulting from new software sales from our health plan customers,
partially offset by a decrease in sales from our benefits adminis-
tration customers.

COST OF BEVENUE. Cost of revenue decreased $54.4 million, or
24%, from $224.0 million in 2003 to $169.6 million in 2004. The
decrease in recurring cost of revenue of $8.0 million resulted from
(i) an $8.3 million decrease in costs related to the planned wind-
down of our services to physician groups, (i} a $1.9 million decrease
related to the utilization of the loss on contracts reserve refated to
our physician group services, (i) reduced costs of $9.2 million
associated with the scheduled termination of our services for Altius,
and (iv) a net increase of $11.4 million in additional recurring cost
of revenue which included $1.9 million of higher personnel costs,
$2.0 million of increased outsourced contractor services costs,
$3.8 million of increased computer infrastructure costs, and $3.7
million in additional costs to support the continued growth in our
outsourced business services for new and existing Facets® and
benefits administration customers. The decrease in non-recurring
cost of revenue of $30.1 million resulted from (i) a lower level of
costs of $4.3 million associated with the wind-down of a large
fixed feg implementation project, (i) a $7.7 million decrease related
to the utilization of the loss on contracts reserve related to a large
fixed fee implementation, and i} a net decrease of $18.1 miflion in
other non-recurring cost of revenue which primarily resulted from
reduced salaries and employee benefit costs of $4.7 million due to
workforce reductions, $10.4 million of significantly reduced third-
party contractor costs, $1.4 million of lower travel costs, and $5.8
million in reduced costs to support our consulting services business,
offset in part by a $4.2 million royalty expense associated with a
third-party vendor.
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LOSS ON CONTRACTS. Total net loss on contracts decreased $16.3
million from 2003 1o 2004. Recurring revenue loss on contracts
decreased $17.1 million from 2003 to 2004. The decrease was
related to the reversal of previously accrued recurring loss on
contracts charges due to the accelerated termination of certain
physician group contracts and the reduction of costs to support
these remaining contracts. Non-recurring loss on contracts increased
$853,000 year over year as the result of incremental hours
required to complete the fixed fee implementation.

As a percentage of total revenue, cost of revenue approximated
62% In 2004 and 77% in 2003.

GROSS MARGIN. The overall gross margin increased to 38% in
2004 from 23% in 2003. The increase in gross margin in 2004 was
primarily the result of (i) higher utilization of consulting resources
on more profitable projects, as well as lower costs associated
with outside contractors, due to the wind-down of a large fixed
fee implementation project in 2004, (i} management’s decision to
exit certain non-strategic and less profitable activities, and (iii) the
significant reduction in costs related to the cost containment
efforts initiated in the second quarter of 2004.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT (R&D) EXPENSES. R&D expenses
increased $5.6 mifion, or 23%, to $30.4 milion in 2004 from $24.8
million in 2003. This net increase was due primarily to increased
spending related to the development of our proprietary software
for the health plan and benefits administration markets. Most of our
R&D expense was used to continue the development of Facets
Extended Enterprise™, a substantial upgrade of our flagship software
for health plans. We also made several enhancements to
QicLink™, a proprietary software product for benefits administrators
and HealthwWeb®, our Internet platform, which allows health plans
to exchange information on a secure basis over the Internet. As a
percentage of total revenue, R&D expenses approximated 11% in
2004 and 9% in 2003. R&D expenses, as a percentage of total
R&D expenditures (which includes capitalized R&D expenses of
$8.7 million in 2004 and $12.9 million in 2003), were 78% in 2004
and 66% in 2003.

SELLING, GENERAL |AND ADMINISTRATIVE (SG&A) EXPENSES.

SG&A expenses increased $7.2 million, or 15%, to $60.0 million

in 2004 from $52.1 r‘nillion in 2003. The overall increase resulted

primarily from (i) a $3“.6 million increase in legal fees and litigation

accruals and Sarbanes-Oxley compliance and, (i) $4.3 million in
increased corporate support costs related to the overall expansion
of our business. As a\peroentage of total revenue, selling, general
and administrative expenses approximated 22% in 2004 and
18% in 20083.

AMORTIZATION OF OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS. Amortization of

other intangible assets‘ decreased $6.7 million, or 61%, from $10.9

million in 2003 to $4“2 million in 2004. The decrease was due
primarily to Facets® completed technology, which was fully amortized

by the end of the th‘ird quarter of 2003, partially offset by the
amortization of Diogenes intangible assets acquired in the second

quarter of 2004.

INTEREST INCOME. lnFerest income decreased $387,000 or 40%,
from $970,000 in 2003 to $583,000 in 2004. The decrease was due

o | ,
primarily to lower account balances on our investment accounts,

lower interest rates omn our operating account in 2004 compared

to 20083, and the absence of an interest-bearing note, which was

fully paid in the secon‘d quarter of 2004.

|

INTEREST EXPENSE. Interest expense decreased $636,000, or 32%,
from $2.0 million in 2003 to $1.4 million in 2004. The decrease

related primarily to the pay down of our capital leases and notes

payable resuiting in I‘ower outstanding balances (including our

\ . .
secured term note) and lower interest rates or our previous

revolving credit facility, which expired in December 2004. The
decrease was pamallQ offset by an increase in interest expense
relating to our new rew‘)lving credit facility entered into in December
2004 and our note pa‘yable to IMS Health issued in connection
with the repurchase of shares of our common stock from IMS

Health in December 2004.
PROVISION FOR INCOI\‘AE TAXES. Provision for income taxes was
$1.1 million in 2004 and 2003. The provision for income taxes

related to state taxes.
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SELECTED QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This data has been derived from unaudited consolidated financial statements that, in the opinion of our managerment, include all adjustments
consisting only of normal recurring adjustments that we consider necessary for a fair presentation of the informetion when read in
conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the attached notes included herein. The operating results for any
quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results for any future period. The following table sets forth certain unaudited consolidated
statement of operations data for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2005 (in thousands, except per share datay:

QUARTERS ENDED 12/31/05 9/30/05 6/30/05'" 3/31/05"  12/31/041 9/30/04 1 6/30/040  3/31/041
Revenue:
Recurring revenue $41,553 $39,445 $40,116 $39,023 $38,419 $36,657 $41,603 $42,302
Non-recurring revenue 33,287 33,608 32,392 32,795 35,872 30,350 25,914 23,448
Total revenue 74,840 73,053 72,508 71,818 74,291 67,007 87,517 65,750
Cost of revenue:
Recurring revenue 23,760 23,772 24,769 23,398 23,288 23,299 28,959 32,279
Non-recurring revenue 16,318 16,962 17,214 16,211 20,107 12,662 15,184 15,173
40,079 39,734 41,983 39,609 43,395 35,961 44,143 47,452
Recurring revenue —loss on contracts - — (2,877) — — — (4,886) {(1,000)
Non-recurring revenue —loss on contracts - - - - (455) - 3,931 1,057
— —_ (2,877) — (455) — (955) 57
Total cost of revenue 40,079 39,734 39,106 39,609 42,940 35,961 43,188 47,509
Gross profit 34,761 33,319 33,402 32,209 31,351 31,046 24,329 18,241
Operating expenses:
Research and development 6,992 7,748 8,434 8,481 8,065 7,354 7,863 7,126
Selling, general and administrative 21,296 18,585 18,775 18,102 15,322 16,155 14,443 14,060
Amortization of other intangible assets 289 856 857 883 1,157 976 1,160 951
Total operating expenses 28,577 27,189 28,066 27,466 24,534 24,485 23,466 22,137
Income (loss) from operations 6,184 6,130 5,336 4,743 6,817 8,561 863 (3,896)
Interest income 987 261 182 189 177 145 92 169
Interest expense (838) (2086) (178) (359) (322) (311) (824) (412)
Income (loss) before provision
for income taxes 6,335 6,185 5,340 4,573 6,672 6,395 831 {4,139)
(Provision for) bensfit from income taxes (71) 295 (361) (275) (281) (420) (200) (200)
Net income (loss) $ 6,264 $ 6,480 $ 4,979 $ 4,298 $ 6,391 $ 5,975 $ 431 $ (4,339)
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 0.15 $ 0.15 $ 012 $ 010 $ 014 $ 013 0.01 $ (0.09)
Diluted $ 0.14 $ 014 $ 011 $ 0.10 $ 013 $ 012 8 0.01 $ (0.09)
Shares used in computing net
income (loss) per share:
Basic 41,519 42,567 41,988 41,714 46,488 47,087 46,869 46,752
Oiluted 45,518 46,921 44,816 43,934 47,995 48,396 48,233 46,752

1) During the fourth quarter of 2003, we decided to wind-dowrn our outsourcing services to physician group
custormers. As a result of this decision, we estimated that the existing customer agreements wouid
generate a total loss of $11.3 million until the terms of these agreements expired in 2008. This loss was
charged to recurring cost of revenue in the fourth quarter of 2003, Through discussions and negotia-
tions, we were able to accelerate the termination of our services agreements with certain physician group
custorners and implemented cost cutting measures that reduced the expected future costs to support
our remaining customers. As a resuit of these actions, we were able to reverse approximately $5.9 mi-
lion of previously accrued loss on contracts charges in 2004. Early in the second quarter of 2005, we
executed termination agreements with our two remaining physician group customers. We continued to
provide outsourced business services through May 2005, when the transition services were completed.
The complstion of these services to the remaining customers allowed us to reverse the remaining bal-
ance in the loss on contracts accrual of $2.8 million in the second quarter of 2005. The total amount of
loss actually incurred related to the outsourcing services to physician group customers was $2.1 million
in 2004 and $403,000 in the first six months of 2005

in December 2003, we negotiated a sattlement regarding out-of-scope work related to one of aur large
fixed tee implementation projects. As a result of this settlement, we estimated that this project would
generate a total loss of $3.7 million until its completion, witich was expected to occur in mid-2004. This
loss was charged to non-recurring cost of revenue in the fourth quarter of 2003, In 2004, we determined
that the large fixed tee implementation project would require a greater effort to compiete than previously
estimated. As a result, we accrued an additional $5.0 million of loss on contracts charges in the first six
months of 2004. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we negotiated a settiement of additional out-of-scope
work, which decreased the total lass on the project and resulted in a reversal of approximately $455,000
of previously accrued loss on contracts charges. This fixed fee implementation was completed by the
end of the first quarter of 2005, The total amount of loss actually incurred on this project was $7.7 million
in 2004 and $484,000 in the first quarter of 2005,
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Since inception, we have financed our operations primarily
through a combination of cash from operations, private financings,
borrowings under our debt facility, public offerings of our common
stock, proceeds from a convertible debt transaction, and cash
obtained from our acquisitions. As of December 31, 2005, we had
cash and cash equivalents totaling $108.5 million, which includes
$1.5 million in restricted cash.

Cash provided by operating activities in 2005 was $43.8 million.
Net cash provided during the period resulted from net income of
$22.0 million, a net increase of $24.0 million from non-cash charges
such as depreciation and amortization, provision for doubtful
accounts and sales allowance, amortization of deferred stock
compensation, other intangible assets, loss on contracts, loss on
disposal of assets, and a change in the cash surrender value of
life insurance policies. This cash provided was offset by a net
decrease of $2.2 miliion in operating assets and liability accounts.
As customary, at the end of 2005, we billed certain software
maintenance fees related to our proprietary software licenses for
the following year. This resulted in a significant portion of cash
received prior to year-end for the early billings. We expect to
receive the remaining amounts due in the early part of 2006.
Revenue on these software maintenance contracts is recognized
ratably over the year in which it relates. We currently have Federal
net operating loss ("“NOLs") carry forwards of $80.5 million, for
which the related deferred tax assets are fully reserved for on our
balance sheet and will be applied against future taxable income.

Cash used in investing activities of $41.9 milion in 2005 was
primarily the result of a net payment of $26.8 million for the
acquisitions of Diogenes, Inc. and CareKey, Inc., our purchases of
$7.2 million in property and equipment and software licenses,
$8.6 million in capitalization of software development costs and
$572,000 for the purchase of a software patent. This use of cash
was offset by proceeds from the net sale of $1.2 million in short-
term investments. The $26.8 millicn net payment for the acquisitions
of Diogenes and CareKey included a $2.5 million contingent payment
to Diogeries shareholders and $34.8 million paid to CareKey stock-
holders and optionholders, offset by $10.5 million in cash acquired
from CareKey. As of December 31, 2005, we have a liability to pay
the remaining $25.2 million of the total consideration of $60.0 million
to CareKey stockholders and optionhoiders related to the acquisition.
CareKey stockholders and cptionholders will also be entitled to
receive contingent consideration under each of the following
circumstances: () $15.0 million in cash payable on February 28,
2006 in the event certain customer retention conditions are met
as of February 15, 2006, and (i) up to $25.0 milion, in cash or stock
at TriZetto'’s election, in the event certain financial milestones are
achieved during the period ending December 31, 2008. In addition,
further consideration payable in cash or stock at TriZetto's election,
may be paid to CareKey stockholders and optionholders if, prior

to December 31, 2008, CareKey generates revenues in excess of
certain milestones or if CareKey generates certain software main-
tenance revenues during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009

) o
in excess of certain milestones.

Cash provided by financing activities of $34.6 million in 2005 was
primarily the result of ‘proceeds from the convertible debt offering
of $100.0 miillion, $7é.0 million of borrowings from our revalving
credit facility, $10.4 million of proceeds from the issuance of common
stock related to employee exercises of stock options and employee
purchases of commoﬁ stock under our employee stock purchase
plan, and $1.6 million|from debt and capital equipment financing.
This cash provided was offset by re-payments of $30.0 million on
our revolving credit fa‘c&lity, payments made to reduce principal
amounts under our no‘tes payable and capital lease obligations of
$45.5 million, which included $37.4 million for the principal payment
of the IMS note, and|the repurchase of our common stock of
$18.9 million related primarily to the convertible debt offering and
from ValueAct.

In November 2001, we entered into an agreement with an equipment

financing company fo‘r $3.1 million, specifically to finance the

acquisition of certain echuipment. Principal and interest was payable
monthly and interest accrued moenthly at LIBOR rate plus 3.13%.

The final payment on the note was due and paid in November 2005.

|

In December 2004, we entered into a Credit Agreement with a
lending institution, which established a revclving credit facility of
$50.0 million, subject |to a maximum of two times our trailing
twelve months EBITDA and fixed percentages of our recurring
revenues. The Credit lAgreemem‘t expires on January 5, 2008.
Principal outstanding ur‘wder the facility bears interest at the lending

institution’s prime rate plus 1.0% and unused portions of the
facility are subject to un\used facility fees. In the event we terminate
the Credit Agreement prior to its expiration, we will be required to
pay the lending institutipn a termination fee equal t0 1% for each
full or partial year remaining under the Credit Agreement, subject
to specific exceptions‘. Under the Credit Agreement, we have
granted the lending institution a security interest in substantially all
of our assets. The Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative
and negative oovenant~s for credit facilities of this type, including
limitations on the Company with respect to indebtedness, liens,
investments, distributior“\s, mergers and acquisitions, dispositions
of assets and transactions with our affiliates. The Credit Agreement
also includes financial | covenants including minimum EBITDA,
minimum fiquidity, minimum recurring revenue and maximum capital
expenditures. The Credit| Agreement replaced our prior credit facility,
which expired on Decernber 11, 2004. As of December 31, 2005,
we had no outstanding |borrowings and were in compliance with
all of the covenants und?r the credit facility. On January 19, 2006,

the Credit Agreement v?/as amended to increase thie amount of

the credit facility from $5C million to $100 million.
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in December 2004, we entered into a Share Repurchase Agreement
pursuant to which we purchased all of the 12,142,857 shares of our
common stock owned by IMS Health for an aggregate purchase
price of $82.0 million, or $6.75 per share. The shares owned by IMS
Health were acquired in connection with the acquisition of Erisco
in October 2000. The purchase price for the repurchase of shares
was paid by delivery of $44.6 million in cash and a Subordinated
Promissory Note in the principal amount of $37.4 miiion. The
Subordinated Promissory Note bore interest at the rate of 5.75%
and was due and paid in full on January 21, 2005 from our cash
accounts. The cash portion of the purchase price was financed
with the proceeds of the sale of 6,600,000 shares of our common
stock to ValueAct Capital for $6.75 per share totaling $44.6
miflion in proceeds.

Pursuant to a letter dated December 5, 2004, we were given the
right to repurchase up to 600,000 of the shares sold to ValugAct.
On September 19, 2005, we exercised our repurchase right with
respect te all 600,000 shares for an aggregate purchase price of
$5.3 million, or $8.83 per share, that was paid for in cash.

On September 30, 2005, we entered into a Purchase Agresment
with UBS Securities, LLC, Banc of America Securities, LLC and
William Blair & Company LLC (the “Initial Purchasers”), to sell
$100 million aggregate principal amount of our 2.75% Convertible
Senior Notes due 2025 (the “Notes”) in a private placement in
reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”). The Notes have been resold by
the Initial Purchasers to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to
Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The sale of the Notes to the
Initial Purchasers was consummated on October 5, 2005.

The aggregate net oroceeds received by us from the sale of the
Notes were approximately $82.0 million, after deducting the amount
used to repurchase one million shares of our common stock at
$14.50 per share in connection with the private placement, the
Initial Purchasers' discount and estimated offering expenses. The
indebtedness under the Notes constitutes our senior unsecured
obligations and will rank equally with all of our existing and future
unsecured indebtedneass.

The Notes were issued pursuant to an Indenture, dated October 5,
2005, by and between us and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association,
as trustee. The Notes bear interest at a rate of 2.75%, which is
payable in cash semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of
each year, commencing on April 1, 2008, to the holders of recerd
on the preceding March 15 and September 15, respectively.

The Notes are convertible into shares of our common stock at an
initial conversion price of $18.85 per share, or 53.0504 shares for
each $1,000 principal amount of Notes, subject to certain adjust-
ments set forth in the Indenture. Upon conversion of the Notes,
we will have the right to deliver shares of our common stock,
cash or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock.
The Notes are convertible (i) prior to October 1, 2020, during any

fiscal quarter after the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2005,
if the closing sale price of our common stock for 20 or more trading
days in a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last
trading day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter exceeds
120% of the conversion price in effect on the last trading day of the
immediately preceding fiscal quarter, (i) prior to October 1, 2020,
during the five business day period after any five consecutive
trading day period (the “Note Measurement Period”} in which the
average trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Notes was
equal to or less than 97% of the average conversion value of the
Notes during the Note Measurement Period, (i) upon the occurrence
of specified corporate transactions, as described in the Indenture,
(iv) if we call the Notes for redemption, or (v) any time on or after
October 1, 2020.

The Notes mature on October 1, 2025. However, on or after
October 5, 2010, we may from time to time at our option redeem
the Notes, in whole or in part, for cash, at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes we redeem,
plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the
redemption date. On each of October 1, 2010, October 1, 2015
and October 1, 2020, holders may require us to purchase all or a
portion of their Notes at a purchase price in cash equal to 100%
of the principal amount of the Notes to be purchased, plus any
accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the purchase date.
in addition, holders may require us to repurchase all or a portion
of their Notes upon a fundamental change, as described in the
indenture, at a repurchase price in cash equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased, plus any
accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental
change repurchase date. Additionally, the Notes may become
immediately due and payable upon an Event of Default, as
defined in the Indenture. Pursuant to a Registration Rights
Agreement dated October 5, 2005, we have agreed to prepare
and file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, within 90
days after the closing of the sale of the Notes, a registration
statement under the Securities Act for the purpose of registering
for resale, the Notes and all of the shares of cur common stock
issuable upon conversion of the Notes.

On January 19, 2008, we and each of our subsidiaries (the
“Borrowers”) entered into Amendment Number Two to Credit
Agreement (the “Amendment”) with Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc., as the
administrative agent and lender (the “Lender”). The Amendment
amends the terms of that certain Credit Agreement dated
December 21, 2004, by and among the Borrowers and the Lender
(the “Agreement”).

The Amendment increases the amount of the revolving credit
facility under the Agreement from $50 million to up to $100 million
(the “Facility”), subject to certain fixed percentages of our recurring
revenues, and extends the expiration date of the Agreement to
January 5, 2010. Under the terms of the Amendment, the principal
outstanding under the Facility will bear interest at a per annum
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rate equal to either (i) the LIBOR rate plus an adjustable applicable
margin of between 1.75% and 2.25% or (i} Welis Fargo’s prime
rate plus an adjustable applicable margin of between 0.0% and
0.5%, at the election of the Borrowers, subject to specified
restrictions. The unused portions of the Facllity will be subject to
unused Facility fees. In the event the Borrowers terminate the
Agreement, as amended by the Amendment, prior to its expiration,
the Borrowers will be required to pay the Lender a termination fee
equal to 2% of the maximum credit amount if the Agreement is
terminated prior to the second anniversary of the Agreement or
1% of the maximum credit amount if the Agreement is terminated
thereafter, up to 90 days prior to the expiration date of the
Agreement, subject to specified exceptions.

We expect 0 use the proceeds for general working capital purposes.
Under the Agreement, as amended by the Amendment, the
Borrowers have granted the Lender a security interest in all of the
assets of the Borrowers.

The Agreement, as e‘amended by the Amendment, contains
custemary affirmative and negative covenants for credit facilities

of this type, including limitations on the Borrowers with respect to
indebtedness, liens, investments, distributions, mergers and
acquisitions, dispositions of assets and transactions with affiliates
of the Borrowers. The Agreement, as amended, also includes
financial covenants including minimum EBITDA, minimum liquidity,

. . | . . .
minimum recurring revenue and maximum capital expenditures.

We were in comph‘anc‘e with all applicable covenants and other

restrictions under the A_‘qreement as of the date of the Amendment.

As of December 31, 2005, we had outstanding eight unused
standby letters of credit in the aggregate amount of $1.5 million,
which serve as security deposits for certain capital and operating
leases and insurance p‘oncies. We are required to maintain a cash
balance egual to the outstanding letters of credit, which is classified

as restricted cash on our balance sheet.

The foliowing tables summarize our contractual obligations and other commercial commitments (in thousands):

PAYMENTS (INCLUDING INTEREST) DUE BY PERICD

TOTAL LESS THAN 2-3 4-5 AFTER
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 1 YEAR YEARS YEARS 5 YEARS
\
Short-term debt $ 120 $ 120 $ — $ - $ -
Capital lease obligations 3,277 o 2132 939 206 -
Operating leases 49,198 13,103 18,337 10,791 6,968
Convertible debt, including interest 185,000 2,750 5,500 5,500 141,250
Other obligation 15,000 15,000 — - -
TJotal contractual obligations $222,569 $33,065 $24,789 $16,497 $148,218
AMOUNT OF COMM\‘TMENT EXPIRATION PER PERIOD

TOTAL AMOUNTS LESS THAN 2-3 4-5 AFTER

OTHER COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS COMMITTED 1 YEAR YEARS YZARS 5 YEARS
Standby letters of credit $ 1,543 $ 651 5 — $ 808 $ 84

Convertible debt represents scheduled principal and interest
payments for the Company's October 2005 convertible debt
offering, described above, which includes $100.0 million aggregate
principal amount of our Convertible Senior Notes. The Notes bear
interest at a rate of 2.75%, which is payable in cash semi-annually
in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing on
April 1, 2008, to the holders of record on the preceding March 15
and September 15, respectively. The Notes mature on October 1,
2025. However, on or after October 5, 2010, we may from time to
time at our option redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, for cash,
at a redemption date.

On December 22, 2005, we acquired all of the issued and
outstanding shares of CareKey. The estimated purchase price as
of December 31, 2005 was approximately $60.5 million, which
consisted of cash payments of $60.0 million and estimated

acquisition-related costs of $500,000. Of the $60.0 million, $25.2

million remained outsta‘nding to be paid to CareKey stockholders

in 2006. CareKey stoc‘kholders and optionholders will also be
entitled to receive contingent consideration under each of the
following circumstances:| (i) $15.0 million in cash payable on February
28, 20086 in the event certain customer retention conditions are met
as of February 15, 2008, which is included in other obligations in
the table above, and (i) up to $25.0 million, in cash or stock at
TriZetto's election, in t‘he event certain financial milestones are

achieved during the perii)d ending December 31, 2008. In addition,

further consideration, pa‘yable in cash or stock at TriZetto’s election,

may be paid to CareKéy stockholders and optionholders if, prior
to December 31, 2008,|CareKey generates revenues in excess of
certain milestone or if CareKey generates certain software main-
tenance revenues during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009

. ) N
in excess of certain milestones.
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Based on our current operating plan, we believe existing cash
and cash equivalents balances, cash forecasted by management
to be generated by operations and borrowings from existing
credit facilities will be sufficient to meet our working capital and
capital requirements for at least the next twelve months. However,
if events or circumstances occur such that we do not meet our
operating plan as expected, we may be required to seek addi-
tional capital and/or reduce certain discretionary spending, which
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to achieve our
business objectives. We may seek additional financing, which
may include debt and/or equity financing or funding through third
party agreements. There can be no assurance that any additional
financing will be available on acceptable terms, if at all. Any
equity financing may result in dilution to existing stockholders and
any debt financing may include restrictive covenants.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES

ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk assoclated with adverse changes in financial and com-
modity market prices and rates could impact our financial position,
operating results or cash flows. We are exposed to market risk due
to changes in interest rates such as prime rate and LIBOR. This
exposure is directly related to our normal operating and funding
activities, Historically, and as of December 31, 2005, we have not
used derivative instruments or engaged in hedging activities.

The interest rate on our $50.0 million revolving credit facility is the
lending institution’s prime rate plus 1.0% and is payable monthly
in arrears. The revolving credit facility expires in January 2008. As
of December 31, 2005, we had no outstanding borrowings on
the revolving line of credit. In January 2006, the credit facility was
increased to $100 millicn and the expiration date was extended
to January 5, 2010. Under the amended agreement, the principal
outstanding under the credit facility will bear interest at a per
annum rate equal to either (i) the LIBOR rate plus an applicable
margin of between 1.75% and 2.25% or (i) Wells Fargo’s prime
rate plus an adjustable applicable margin of between 0.0% and
0.5% at our election, subject to specified restrictions.

On September 30, 2005, we entered into a Purchase Agreement
with UBS Securities, LLC, Banc of America Securities, LLC and
William Blair & Company LLC (the “Initial Purchasers”), to sell
$100 million aggregate principal amount of our 2.75% Convertible
Senior Notes due 2025 (the “Notes”) in a private placement in
reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”). The Notes have been resold by
the Initial Purchasers to gualified institutional buyers pursuant to
Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The sale of the Notes to the
initial Purchasers was consummated on October 5, 2005. The
Notes were issued pursuant to an Indenture, dated October 5, 2005,
by and between us and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
trustee. The Notes bear interest at a rate of 2.75%, which is payable
in cash semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of
each year, commencing on April 1, 2006, to the holders of record
on the preceding March 15 and September 15, respectively.

We manage interest rate risk by investing excess funds in cash
equivalents and short-term investments bearing variable interest
rates, which are tied to various market indices. We also manage
interest rate risk by closely managing our borrowings on our
credit facility based on our operating needs in order to minimize
the interest expense incurred. As a result, we do not believe that
near-term changes in interest rates will result in a material effect
on our future earnings, fair values or cash flows.




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHQOLDERS

OF THE TRIZETTO GROUP, INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of The TriZetto Group, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2005. Our audits also included the financial
statement schedule listed in the index at ltem 15. These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the consclidated financial position
of The TriZetto Group, Inc. at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and
the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005,
in conformity with U.S. genszrally accepted accounting principles.
Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as
a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set
forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Acc#unting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of The [TriZetto Group, Inc.’s internal control over
financial reporting as|of December 31, 2005, based on criteria
established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” issued
by the Committee of |Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated February 15, 2006 expressed
an unqualified opinion\ thereon.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Orange County, California
February 15, 2006



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
{IN THOUSANDS)

DECEMBER 31, 20C5 2004
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 106,940 $ 70,489
Short-term investments — 1,203
Restricted cash 1,643 1,455
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $855 and $1,692 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively 41,745 52,483
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 11,059 7,873
Income tax receivable 316 91
Total current assets 161,603 133,594
Property and equipment, net 25,730 31,466
Capitalized softwars development costs, net 28,724 27,902
Goodwil 87,170 39,201
Other intangible assets, net 3,335 5,097
Cther assets 11,177 2,624
Total assets $317,739 $ 239,884

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Notes payable $ 120 $ 39,600
Current portion of capital lease obligations 1,979 4,186
Accounts payable 14,959 13,019
Accrued liabilities 56,857 37,685
Deferred revenue 35,625 39,520

Total current liabilities 108,640 133,910
Long-term convertible debt 100,000 —
Long-term revolving line of credit — 12,000
Other long-term liabilities 1,752 3,321
Capital lease obligations 1,065 1,838
Deferred revenue 3,924 1,882

Total liabilities 216,381 152,851

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock: $0.001 par value; shares authorized: 4,000
(5,000 authorized net of 1,000 designated as Series A Junior Participating Preferred);
shares issued and outstanding: zero in 2005 and 2004 — —
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock: $0.001 par value; shares authorized:
1,000; shares issued and outstanding: zero in 2005 and 2004 — —
Common stock: $0.001 par value; shares authorized:

95,000; shares issued and outstanding: 42,104 in 2005 and 42,201 in 2004 42 42
Additional paid-in capital 362,186 369,669
Deferred stock compensation (2,986) (2,873)
Accumulated deficit (257,884) (279,905)

Total stockholders’ equity 101,358 86,933

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 317,739 $ 239,884

See accompanying notes.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Revenue:
Recurring revenue $160,137 $153,381 $160,373
Non-recurring revenue 132,082 115,584 129,356
Total revenue 292,219 274,565 290,329
Cost of revenue:
Recurring revenue 95,699 107,825 115,812
Non-recurring revenue 65,7086 63,126 93,244
161,405 170,951 209,056
Recurring revenue—{recovery fromj loss on contracts (2,877) (5,886) 11,271
Non-recurring revenue—loss on contracts — 4,533 3,680
(2,877) {1,353) 14,851
Total cost of revenue 158,528 169,598 224,007
Gross profit 133,691 104,967 66,322
Operating expenses:
Research and development 31,655 30,398 24,823
Selling, general and administrative 76,758 59,980 52,138
Amortization of other intangible assets 2,885 4,244 10,908
Restructuring and impairment charges — — 3,769
Total operating expenses 111,298 94,622 91,638
Income (loss) from operations 22,393 10,345 (25,316)
Interest income 1,619 583 970
Interest expense (1,679) (1,369) (2,005)
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 22,433 9,559 (26,351)
Provision for income taxes (412) (1,101) (1,124)
Net income (loss) $ 22,021 $ 8458 $(27,475)
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 052 $ 018 $ (0.60
Diluted § 048 $ 018 $  (0.80)
Shares used in computing net income (foss) per share:
Basic 41,948 46,794 46,170
Diluted 45,503 48,157 46,170

See accompanying notes.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(IN THOUSANDS])

COMMON STOCK

ADDITIONAL

DERERRED

TOTAL

PAID-IN STOCK ACCUMULATED STOCKHCLDERS'

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003 SHARES AMOUNT CAPITAL COMPENSATION OEFICIT EQUITY
Balance, December 21, 2002 48,034 $ 46 $400,573 $(2,317) $(260,888) $137,414
Issuance of common stock in

connection with prior acquisitions 85 — 37 — — 37
Deferred stock compensation

related to stock grants 100 — 385 (385) — —
Amortization of deferred

stock compensation — — — 1,839 — 1,839
Employee exercise of common stock

options, including tax benefit of $156 406 1 482 — — 483
Employee purchase of common stock 270 — 1,362 — — 1,362
Repurchase of common stock

under stock repurchase plan (25) — (137) — — (137)
Net loss — — — —_ (27,475) (27,475)
Balance, December 31, 2003 46,870 47 402,702 (863) (288,363) 113,523
Issuance of common stock

to ValueAct Capital 6,600 7 44,543 — — 44,550
Deferred stock compensation

related to stock grants 422 — 2,604 (2,604) — —
Amortization of deferred

stock compensation — — — 594 594
Employee exercise of common stock

options, including tax benefit of $515 255 — 661 — — 661
Employee purchase of common stock 197 — 1,111 — — 1,111
Repurchase of common stock from IMS (12,143) (12) (81,952) — — (81,964)
Net income — — — — 8,458 8,458
Balance, December 31, 2004 42,201 42 369,669 (2,873) (279,905) 86,933
Employee exercise of common stock

options, including tax benefit of $3,858 1,290 2 9,677 — — 8,679
Employee purchase of common stock 90 — 720 — — 720
Amartization of deferred

stock compensation — — 191 1,206 —_ 1,387
Deferred stock compensation related

to restricted stock grants 100 — 1,319 (1,319) — —
Repurchase of commen stock from

ValueAct Capital (600) (1) (6,297} — — (5,298)
Repurchase of common stock from

employee for tax obligation (10) — (145) — — (145)
Repurchase of common stock

related to convertible debt (1,000) (1) (14,499) — — (14,500)
Issuance of common stock for

purchase of software patent 33 — 551 - — 551
Net income - — — — 22,021 22,021
Balance, December 31, 2005 42,104 $42 $362,186 8(2,986) $(257,884) $101,358

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, \ 2005 2004 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income (loss) $ 22,021 $ 8,458 8(27,475)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Benefit from doubtful accounts and sales allowance . (597) (2,299) (1,938)
Issuance of stock in connection with a prior acquisition — — 37
Amortization of deferred stock compensation 1,397 594 1,839
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 70 — 19
Depreciation and amortization 23,282 21,106 18,407
Amortization of other intangible assets 2,885 4,244 10,908
{Recovery from) loss on contracts 2,877) {(1,353) 14,951
LLoss on impairment of property and equipment and other assets — — 3,769
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance policies {151) — —
Changes in assets and liabilities (net of acquisition):
Restricted cash ‘ (88) 23 4,615
Accounts receivable 12,825 (12,940) (2,564)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (3.161) (©82) 1,589
Income tax receivable (225) 486 384
Other assets (8,384) (814) 366
Accounts payable 2,417 1,488 726
Accrued liabllities (2,620) 939 (8,437)
Deferred revenue (2,969) 17,034 (491)
Net cash provided by cperating activities \ 43,825 35,884 16,705
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Sale of short-term investments, net 1,203 17,640 9,348
Purchase of property and equipment and software licenses (7,171) (8,131) (13,522)
Capitalization of software development costs (8,608) 8,610 (12,916)
Purchase of intangible assets (572) (2,138) (550)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (26,799) (89) —
Net cash used in investing activities \(41,947) (1,328) (17,640
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANGING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from revolving line of credit 78,000 72,000 49,296
Proceeds from convertible note 100,000 —
Proceeds from debt financing 1,511 1,110 2,215
Proceeds from capital leases 139 1,150 5,327
Payments on revolving line of credit (90,000) (80,000} (34,7986)
Payments on notes payable (40,991) (1,429) (2,637)
Payments on term note — (9,375) 5,625)
Payments on equipment line of credit — — {155)
Payments on capital leases (4,542) 6,321) (6,205)
Proceeds from sale of common stock — 44,550 -
Payment for repurchase of common stock (19,943) (44,550) (137)
Employee exercises of stock options and purchase of common stock 10,399 1,772 1,845
Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities 54,573 {20,093) 10,128
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents %6,451 14,463 9,193
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 70,480 56,026 46,833
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $1(§6,94O $ 70,489 $ 56,026

See Note 18 for supplemental disclosure of additional cash flow information, including certain non-cash investing and financing activities.

See accompanying nates.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. FORMATION AND BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY

The TriZetto Group, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorparated in the
state of Delaware on May 27, 1997. The Company develops,
licenses and supports oroprietary and third-party software products
for the healthcare industry. The Company also provides hosting,
applications management, business process management,
consulting and other services primarily to the healthcare industry.
The Company provides access to its hosted solutions either
through the Internet or through traditional networks and selfls its
software and services to customers primarily in the United States.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany
fransactions have been eliminated in consofidation.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company has generated net income of $22.0 million and
$8.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, and incurred a loss of $27.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003, and has an accumulated deficit of
$257.39 million at December 31, 2005. The Company has generated
cash from operating activities of $43.8 million, $35.9 million and
$16.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and
2003, respectively. The Company has total cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash of $108.5 million and net working capital of
$52.0 mition at December 31, 2005. Based on the Company’s
current operating plan, management believes existing cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investment balances, cash forecasted
by management to be generated by operations and borrowings
from existing credit facilities will be sufficient to meet the
Company’s working capital and capital requirements for at least
the next twelve months. However, if events or circumstances
occur such that the Company does not mest its operating plan
as expected, the Company may be required to seek additional
capital and/or to reduce certain discretionary spending, which
could have a material adverse effect on the Company's ability to
achieve its intended business objectives. The Company may seek
additional financing. which may include debt and/or equity financing
or funding through third party agreements. There can be no
assurance that any additional financing will be available on
acceptable terms, if at all. Any equity financing may result in dilution
to existing stockholders and any debt financing may include
restrictive covenaris.

COMPANY OWNED LIFE INSURANCE

The Company has purchased life insurance policies to fund its
obligations under ceartain deferred compensation plans for officers,
key employees and directors. Cash surrender values of these
policies are adjusted for fluctuations in the market vaiue of under-
lying investments. The cash surrender value is adjusted each
reporting period and any gain or loss is included with other
income and expense in the Company’s consolidated statements
of operations.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires man-
agement to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a
concentration of credit risk consist of cash and cash eqguivalents,
short-term investments and accounts receivable. Cash and cash
equivalents are deposited in demand and money markeat accounts
in three financial institutions. Deposits held with banks may
exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. The
Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash
and cash equivalents. The Company's accounts receivable are
derived from revenue earned from customers primarily located in
the United States. The Company generally requires no collateral from
its customers. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful
accounts receivable based upon the expected collectibility of
individual accounts.

The Company'’s largest customer’s receivable balance represented
14% of total accounts receivable at December 31, 2005. The
Company’s two largest customers accounted for 15% and 11% of
total revenue in 2005, respectively. No single customer accounted
for more than 10% of the Company’s total accounts receivable
and total revenue in 2004 and 2003.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s financial instruments
including cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments,
accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair vaiue
due to their short maturities. Based on borrowing rates currently
available to the Company for loans with similar terms, the carrying
value of its debt obligations approximates fair value.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased
with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include money market
funds, commercial paper and various deposit accounts.

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Short-term investments include money market funds, commercial
paper, and various deposit accounts.

RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash consists of $1.5 million in money market funds
and certificates of deposit primarily against letters of credit issued
for certain capital and operating leases and insurance policies.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives: computer
equipment, other equipment and software are depreciated over
three to twenty years, and furniture and fixtures are depreciated
over seven years. Leasehald improvements are amortized over
their estimated useful lives or the lease term, if shorter. Upon
retirement or sale, the cost and related accumulated depreciation
are removed from the balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss
is reflected in operations. Maintenance and repairs are charged
to operations as incurred.

GOODWILL

Under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”") Statement
Nos. 141 and 142, “Business Combinations” and “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets,” respectively, goodwill and intangible
assets deemed to have indefinite lives are no longer amortized
but, instead, are tested annually or on an interim basis if events
or circumstances indicate that the fair value of the asset has
decreased below its carrying value.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS, INCLUDING OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Other intangible assets arising from the Company’s acquisitions
consist of customer lists, core technology, consulting contracts,
tradenames and intellectual property, which are being amortized
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of two to five
years. Software technology rights are being amortized on a straight-
line basis over the lesser of the contract term or five years.
Long-lived assets and other intangible assets are reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable in accordance
with FASB Statement No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Recoverability is measured by
comparison of the asset’s carrying amount to future net undis-
counted cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If such
assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recog-
nized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount
of the assets exceeds the projected discounted future net cash

flows arising from the|assets. The discount rate applied 10 these
cash flows is based on a discount rate commensurate with the
risks involved.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, the product or service has been delivered, fees
are fixed and determi+able, collection is reasonably assured and
all other significant obligations have been fulfilled. The Company’s
revenue is classified intcll two categories: recurring and non-recurring.
For the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately 55% of the

Company’s total revenue was recurring and 45% was non-recurring.
p

The Company generates recurring revenue from several sources,
including the provision‘ of outsourcing services, such as software
hosting and other business services, and the sale of maintenance
and support for its proriarietary software products. Recurring service

revenue is typically b{lle‘d and recognized maonthly over the contract
term, typically three to seven years. Many of the Company’s
outsourcing agreements require it to maintain a certain level of
operating performance. The Company records revenue net of
estimated penalties resulting from any failure to maintain the level
of operating performance. These penalties have not been significant
in the past. Recurring |software maintenance revenue is typically
based on one-year renewable contracts. Software maintenance
and support revenues|are recognized ratably over the contract
period. Payment for software maintenance received in advance is
recorded on the balance sheet as deferred revenue. Certain royalty
costs paid to third party software vendors associated with software
maintenance are amortized over the software maintenance period.

The Company generates non-recurring revenue from the licensing of

its software. The Comp‘any follows the provisions of the Securities

and Exchange Commis“sion Staff Accounting Bulletin {(*SAB”) No.

104, “Revenue Recognition,” AICPA Statement of Position (“SOP”)

97-2, “Software F%even‘ue Recognition,” as emended, EITF 00-3,
“Application of AICPA S‘tatement of Position 97-2 to Arrangements
That Include the Right to Use Software Stored on Another entity's

Hardware,” and EITF Issue 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables.” |Software license revenue is recognized

upon the execution of ? license agreement, upon delivery of the
software, when fees ar‘e fixed or determinable, when collectibility
is probable and when all other significant obligations have been

fulfilled. For software license agreements in which customer

acceptance is a signific‘ant condition of earning the license fees,
revenue is not recognized‘l until acceptance occurs. For arrangements
containing multiple elements, such as software license fees, consulting

services, outsourcing senvices and maintenance, and where vendor-

specific objective evide‘nce (“VSOE") of fair value exists for all
undelivered elements, t\he Company accounts for the delivered
elements in acoordanct‘a with the “residual method.” Under the

residual method, the arrangement fee is recognized as follows:
(1) the total fair value of the undelivered elements, as indicated by

VSOE, is deferred and |subsequently recognized in accordance
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with the relevant sections of SOP 97-2 and (2} the difference
between the total arrangement fee and the amount deferred for
the undelivered elements is recognized as revenue related to the
delivered elements. For arrangements in which VSOE does not
exist for each undelivered element, including specified upgrades,
revenue for the delivered element is deferred and not recognized
until VSOE is available for the undelivered element or delivery of
each element has occurred. When multiple products are sold
within a discounted arrangement, a proportionate amount of the
discount is applied to each product based on each product’s fair
value or relative list price.

The Company also generates non-recurring revenue from set-up
fees, which are services, hardware, and software associated with
preparing a customer connectivity center or a customer’s data
center in order to ready a specific customer for software hosting
services. The set-up fees are usually separate and distinct from the
hosting fees, and performance of the set-up services represents a
culmination of the earnings process. The Company recognizes revenue
for these services as they are performed using the percentage of
completion basis and when the Company can reasonably estimate
the cost of the set-up project.

The Company also generates non-recurring revenue from consulting
fees for implementation, installation, configuration, business process
engineering, data conversion, testing and training related to the
use of its proprietary and third party licensed products. In certain
instances, the Company also generates non-recurring revenue
from customization services of our proprietary licensed products.
The Company recognizes revenue for these services as they are
performed, if contracted on a time and material basis, or using
the percentage of completion method, if contracted on a fixed fee
basis and when the Company can adequately estimate the cost
of the consulting project. Percentage of completion is measured
based on cost incurred to date compared to total estimated cost
at completion. When the Company cannot reasonably estimate
the cost to complete, revenue is recognized using the completed
contract method, upon completion of all contractual obligations.

The Company also generates non-recurring revenue from certain
one-time charges including certain contractual fees such as
termination fees and change of control fees, and the Company
recognizes the revenue for these fees once the termination or
change of control is guaranteed, there are no remaining substantive
performance obligations, and collection is reasonably assured.
Other non-recurring revenue is also generated from fees related
to the Company’s product related conferences.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSE AND CAPITALIZED
SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses are salaries and
related expenses associated with the development of software
applications prior to establishing technological feasibility. Such
expenses include compensation paid to engineering personnel and
fees to outside contractors and consultants. Costs incurred internally
in the development of our software products are expensed as
incurred as R&D expenses until technological feasibility has been
established, after which production costs are capitalized as software
development costs in accordance with FASB Statement No. 86,
“Accounting for the Gosts of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased,
or Otherwise Marketed.” Capitalization ceases and amortization of
capitalized software development costs begins when the software
product is available for general release to customers.

Capitalized software development costs are amortized to cost of
revenue on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
the related products, which is generally deemed to be five years.
Software development costs capitalized for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $8.€ million, $8.6 million,
and $12.9 million, respectively. Amortization expense for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 was $7.8 million,
$6.2 million, and $3.5 million, respectively, and is included in non-
recurring cost of revenue.

Capitalized software development costs, net consist of the following
{in thousands):

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 2004

Capitalized software

development costs $ 47,270 $38,662
Less: accumulated amortization (18,546) (10,760)
$28,724 $27,902

INTERNAL-USE SOFTWARE

The Company capitalizes direct costs of materials and services
used in the development of internal-use software in accordance
with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1, “Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal
Use.” Amounts capitalized are amortized on a straight-line basis
over a period of three to five years and are reported as software
within preperty, plant and equipment.

ADVERTISING COSTS

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 was
$1.2 million, $937,000, and $1.7 million, respectively.
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has the following stock-based compensation plans:
(i) the 1988 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which is an amendment
and restatement of the 1898 Stock Option Plan, which permits
the Company to grant other types of awards in addition to stock
options, (i) the RIMS Stock Option Plan, a plan the Company
assumed through the acquisition of Resource Information
Management Systems, Inc. in late 2000, and (i) the Employee
Stock Purchase Plan, which allows full-time employees to purchase
shares of the Company’s common stock at a discount to fair
market value. The Company accounts for stock options granted
under these plans using the intrinsic value method as prescribed
by Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock lIssued to Employees,” and related Interpretations.
Stock-based employee compensation costs related to stock
option grants were zero, zero and $267,000 in 2005, 2004, and
20083, respectively, and are reflected in net income (loss), net of
related tax effects, as a result of the amortization of deferred
stock compensation. The amortization represents the difference
between the exercise price and estimated fair value of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The following table
itustrates the effect on net income (loss) and net income (loss)
per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition
provisions of FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123"}, to stock-based employee
compensation utilizing the Black-Scholes valuation model (in
thousands, except per share data):

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 2004 2003

Net income (loss), as reported
Add: stock-based employee
compensation expense
included in reported net
income (loss), net of related
tax effects — —_ 267
Deduct: stock-based employee
compensation expense
determined under fair value
based method for all awards,

$22,021 $8,458  $(27,475)

net of related tax effects (5,782) (4,889) (5,254)
Pro forma net income (loss) $16,239 $3,569  3(32,462)
Net income (loss) per share
Basic, as reported $ 052 $ 018 $ (060
Diluted, as reported $ 048 $ 018 % (080
Basic, pro forma $ 0.39 $ 008 3§ (0.70)
Diluted, pro forma $ 0.36 $ 007 3% (0.70)

The Company evaiuaﬂes the assumptions used to value stock
awards under SFAS 123 on a quarterly basis. Based on guidance

provided in FASB Sta‘tement No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-

Based Payment” (“SFA“S 123R"), and SAB No. 107, “Share-Based
Payment,” the Compan~y refined its estimate of volatility in the first
quarter of 2005 from 0.50 to 0.55 based on historical and future

implied volatility, and |also changed its risk-free interest rate
assumption from 3.0% to 3.7% to more accurately reflect the

most current risk-free ipterest rate at the time of the Company’s

most recent stock opti\on grant. The Company believes that its
current assumptions generate a better estimate of fair value.

Such pro forma disclosures may not be representative of future pro
forma compensation cost because options vest over several years

and additional grants a‘md forfeitures are anticipated each year.

|

The fair value of option g‘rants were estimated using a Black-Scholes
pricing model. The following weighted average assumptions were

used in the estimations:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 2004 2003
Expected volatility 55% 50% 50%
Risk-free interest rate 3.70% 3.00% 3.00%
Expected life 4 years 4 years 4 years
Expected dividends — — —
Weighted average fair value $3.99 $2.81 $1.70

COMMON STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM

During the second quarter of 2003, the Company repurchased

24,500 shares of oomn‘won stock at a cost of $137,000. These

shares were repurchased \under the Company’s authorized repurchase

program, which was ap‘proved in the first quarter of 2003 and

expires on December 31, 2006. In addition, the Board of Directors

has established certain p?rameters within which purchases of shares
may be made, and a Iim\it of $10.0 million on the aggregate dollar
amount of the shares t‘hat may be purchasad pursuant to the

program. As of December 31, 2005, approximately $3.9 million
was available for future [repurchase of shares of common stock

pursuant to Board of Director authorization.

INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts |for income taxes under FASB Statement
No. 108, “Accounting for income Taxes.” This statement requires

the recognition of deferr(‘ed tax assets and liabilities for the future
consequences of events that have been recognized in the

Company’s financial statc}aments or tax returns. The measurement
of the deferred items is based on enacted tax laws. In the event

the future consequences |of differences between financial reporting
bases and the tax bases of the Company's assets and liabilities
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result in a deferred tax asset, FASB Statement No. 109 requires
an evaluation of the probability of being able to realize the future
benefits indicated by such asset. A valuation allowance related to
a deferred tax asset is recorded when it is more likely than not
that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
The Company reviews the need for a valuation allowance on a
quarterly basis and believes sufficient uncertainty exists regarding
the realizability of the deferred tax assets such that a full valuation
allowance is required. The Company believes that the uncertainty
regarding the ability to realize its deferred tax assets may diminish
to the point where it is more likely than not that our deferred tax
assets will be realized, at which point, the Company would
reverse all or a portion of its valuation allowance, thus resulting in
an income tax benefit.

COMPUTATION OF EARNINGS PER SHARE

The computation of basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is based on
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during each period. The computation of diluted earnings per share
is based on the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period plus, when their effect is dilutive,
incremental shares consisting of shares subject to stock options,
unvested restricted stock, and shares issued upon conversion of
convertible debt.

Emerging Issues Task Force lssue No. 04-08, “The Effect of
Contingently Convertible Instruments on Diluted Earnings per
Share” (“EITF No. 04-08") requires companies to account for
contingently convertible debt using the “if converted” method set
forth in SFAS No. 128 "Earnings Per Share” for calculating diluted
EPS. Under the "“if converted” method, the after-tax effect of
interest expense related to the convertible securities is added back
to net income, and convertible debt is assumed to have been
converted to equity at the beginning of the period and is added to
outstanding common shares, unless the inclusion of such shares
is anti-dilutive. Weighted average shares outstanding (diluted) for
the full year 2005 does not include the anti-dilutive impact of
1,264,489 shares issuable upon conversion of the Company’s
senior convertible notes (Note 9), because 'the conversion price
exceeded the average market value of the stock for the year.

The following is a reconciliation of the computations of basic and
diluted EPS information for each of the three years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 (in thcusands, except per
share data):

YEARS ENDED DEGEMBER 31, 2005 2004 2003

Basic and diluted:

Net income (loss) $22,021 3 8458  $(27.475)
Weighted average shares

outstanding (basic) 41,948 46,794 46,170
Effect of dilutive securities:

Unvested common

shares outstanding 523 285 —

Unexercised stock options 3,032 1,068 —
Adjusted weighted average

shares for diluted EPS 45,503 48,167 46,170
Basic earnings per share $ 052 $ 018 $ (0.80)
Diluted earnings per share $ 048 § 018 § (060

If the Company had reported net income in 2003, additional
common share equivalents of 1,090,965 would have been
included in the denominator for diluted earnings per share in the
table above. These common share equivalents, calculated using
the treasury stock method, have been excluded from the diluted
net loss per share calculation because such equivalents were
anti-dilutive as of such date.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The Company has adopted the provisions of FASB Statement No.
130, “Comprehensive Income” (“Statement 130"). Statement 130
establishes standards for reporting and display of comprehensive
income (loss) and its components for general-purpose financial
statements. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as net
income {loss) plus all revenues, expenses, gains and losses from
non-owner sources that are excluded from net income (loss) in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Comprehensive income (loss) was equal to net income (loss) for
2005, 2004 and 2003.
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RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain reclassifications, none of which affected net income (loss),
have been made to prior year amounts to conform to current year
presentation.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONQUNGEMENTS

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 123
(Revised 2004) “Share Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R"), which is
a revision to FASB Statement No. 123 and supersedes Accounting
Principles Board Opinion 25 and FASB Statement No. 148. This
statement requires that the cost resulting from all share-based
payment transactions be recognized in the financial statements.
This statement establishes fair value as the measurement objective
in accounting for share-based payment arrangements and
requires all entities to apply a fair-value based measurement
method in accounting for share-based payment transactions with
employees except for equity instruments held by employee share
ownership plans. SFAS 123R applies to all awards granted after
the required effective date and to awards modified, repurchased,
or cancelled after that date. As of the required effective date, all
public entities that used the fair-value-based method for either
recognition or disclosure under FASB Statement No. 123 may
apply this Statement using a modified version of prospective
application. Under that transition method, compensation cost is
recognized on or after the required effective date for the portion of
outstanding awards for which the requisite service has not yet
been rendered, based on the grant-date fair value of those awards
calculated under FASB Statement No. 123 for either recognition
or pro forma disclosures. For periods before the required effective
date, those entities may elect to apply a modified version of the
retrospective application under which financial statements for prior
periods are adjusted on a basis consistent with the pro forma
disclosures required for those periods by FASB Statement No. 123.

In April 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
approved a new rule that delayed the effective date of SFAS 123R.
For most public companies, the delay eliminates the comparability
issues that would arise from adopting SFAS 123R in the middle of
their fiscal years as originally called for by SFAS 123R. Except for
this deferral of the effective date, the guidance in SFAS 123R is
unchanged. Under the SEC’s rule, SFAS 123R is now effective for
public companies for annual, rather than interim, periods that begin
after June 15, 2005. The Company has evaluated the requirements
under SFAS 123R and plans to adopt on January 1, 2006. The
Company believes that such adoption will have a substantial impact
on its consolidated statements of operations and earnings per share.

N

3. DEFERRED STOCK COMPENSATION

The following table is|a summary of the amount of amortization of
deferred stock compensation, which relates to restricted stock
and stock option grants. These amounts are included in cost of

revenue and operatinb expenses as follows (in thousands):

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,‘ 2005 2004 2003

Cost of revenue—rec‘\urring $— $4 $476
Cost of revenue —non-recurring 36 — 81
Research and development 34 24 212

Selling, general
and administrative
Total \

1,327 566
$1,397 $594

1,070
$1,839

4. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepaid expenses and| other current assets consist of the following
(in thousands):

DECEMBER 31, \ 2005 2004
Prepaid expenses—o‘ther $ 3004 $ 269

Prepaid hardware & software
license maintenance 3,257 2,733
Prepaid commission & royalty 1,919 805
Up-front fees 1,467 427
Accounts receivable—other 1,082 528
Other \ 330 689
\ $11059  $7.873

5. PROPERTY AND E?U!PMENT
Property and eguipment, net, consist of the following (in thousands):

DECEMBER 31, \ 2005 2004

Computer equipment $32,831 $29,534
Furniture and fixtures 5,282 4,575
Other equipment 4,261 4,084
Software 31,518 27,080
Leasehold improvements 3,974 4,151
77,876 89,424

Less: Accumulated depreciation (52,146) (37,958)
\ $25730  § 31,466

Depreciation expense f‘or the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 was $15.5 million, $14.9 million and $14.9 million,

respectively. Included in‘ property and equipment at December 31,

2005 and 2004 is equipment acquired under capital leases totaling
approximately $22.1 mill‘ion and $20.5 million, and related accumu-
lated depreciation of $18.7 million and $14.0 million, respectively.
Also included in propert‘y and equipment at December 31, 2005 is
approximately $1.5 millio‘n in net book value of equipment acquired

through the purchase of|CareKey, Inc.
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The Company performs an annual evaluation of its long-lived
assets in accordance with FASB Statement No. 144, As a resuft
of this evaluation, management concluded that no indicators of
impairment existed in 2005 and 2004. In 2003, it was determined
that some property and equipment was impaired due to the
winding down of certain business lines. As a result, the Company
recognized a restructuring and impairment charge of $4.0 million
related to these assets in the fourth quarter of 2003. The assets
were written off in the first quarter of 2004.

6. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net, consist of the following
(in thousandsy):

DECEMBER 31, 2005 2004

NON-AMORTIZABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill $87,170 $38,201
AMORTIZABLE INTANGIBLE ASSET
Customer lists $ 2,300 $ 2,300
Core technology and intellectual property 7,074 5,950
Tradenames 4,879 4,879
14,253 13,129
Less: Accumulated amortization (10,918) (8,032)
$ 3335 § 5097

The Company recorded $47.7 million in goodwill in connection with
its acquisition of CareKey, Inc. in December 2005 (Note 186}, which
represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated
fair market value of the assets purchased and liabilities assumed.
Because the acquisition was completed on December 22, 2005,
there was not sufficient time to finalize the fair market valuation as of
December 31, 2005. Once the Company receives a final valuation,
the estimated purchase price will be adjusted and the allocation
between goodwill and identifiable intangible assets will be recorded.
In 2003, the Company also recorded $1.1 million in intellectual
property related to the purchase of a software patent.

The Company testec goodwill using the two-step process prescribed
in FASB Statement No. 142, The first required step is a screen for
potential impairment, while the second step measures the amount
of the impairment, if any. The Company performed its annual
impairment test on March 31, 2005, and this test did not. reveal
any indications of impairment.

Amortization expense recorded for the years ended December
31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 related to the intangible assets that
are subject to amortization was $2.9 million, $4.2 million and
$10.9 million, respectively. The estimated aggregate amortization
expense related to these intangible assets for the next five fiscal
years is as foliows (in thousands):

FOR THE YEARS ENDING DECEMBER 31,

2006 $788
2007 772
2008 772
2003 333
2010 and thereafter 670
Total $3,335

Amortization expense related to existing intangible assets will
vary from amounts identified above in the event we recognize
impairment charges prior to the amortized ussful life of any intangible
assets. Additionally, amortization expense will vary from amounts
identified above when the final accounting for the CareKey acquisition
is completed, and the allocation between goodwill and identifiable
intangible assets is recorded.

7. ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

DECEMBER 31, 2005 2004
Accrued payroll and benefits $20,619 $18,560

Accrued professional and
litigation fees and settlements 1,590 3,251
Deferred acquisition payment — 2,290
Accrued acquisition costs 25,611 —
Loss on contracts — 1,528
Restructuring and impairment charges 30 48
Accrued outside services 959 2,471
Accrued income and other taxes 1,191 2,509
Cther 6,957 6,928
$56,957 $37,585
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8. NOTES PAYABLE AND LINE OF CREDIT
in November 2001, the Company entered into an agreement with a
financing company for $3.1 million, specifically to finance certain
equipment. Principal and interest was payable monthly and interest
accrued monthly at LIBOR plus 3.13%. The final payment on the
note was due and paid in November 2005.

in December 2004, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement
with a lending institution, which established a revolving credit
facility of $50.0 million, subject to a maximum of two times the
Company’s trailing twelve months EBITDA and fixed percentages
of our recurring revenues. The Credit Agreement expires on
January 5, 2008. Principal outstanding under the facility bears
interest at the lending institution's prime rate plus 1.0% and
unused portions of the facility are subject to unused facility fees.
In the event the Company terminates the Credit Agreement prior
to its expiration, it will be required to pay the lending institution a
termination fee equal to 1% for each full or partial year remaining
under the Credit Agreement, subject to specific exceptions.
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company has granted the lending
institution a security interest in substantially all of its assets. The
Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative
covenants for credit facilities of this type, including limitations on

Notes payable and line of credit consist of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

the Company with respect to indebtedness, liens, investments,
distributions, mergers and acquisttions, dispositions of assets and
fransactions with our affiiiates. The Credit Agreement also includes

financial covenants inclL‘Jding minimum EBITDA, minimum liquidity,
minimum recurring revenue and maximum capital expenditures.

The Credit Agreement replaced the Company's prior credit facility,
which expired on Decer‘nber 11, 2004. As of December 31, 2005,

the Company had no outstanding borrowings and was in compliance

with all of the covenam‘s under its credit facility.

In December 2004, the Company and IMS Healith Incorporated
(“IMS Health") entered into a Share Purchase Agreement pursuant
to which the Company purchased all of the 12,142,857 shares of the
Company’s common st(?ck owned by IMS Health for an aggregate
purchase price of $82.0 million, or $6.75 per share. The purchase
price for the repurchas\e of shares was paid by delivery of $44.6
million in cash and a Sut})ordinated Promissory Note in the principal
amount of $37.4 million. The Subordinated Promissory Note bore
interest at the rate of 5.75% and was due and paid in full on
January 21, 2005 from the Company’s cash accounts. The cash
portion of the purchase price was financed with the proceeds of the
Company’s sale of 6,600,000 shares of its common stock to ValueAct

Capital for $6.75 per sh‘are totaling $44.6 million in proceeds.

NQTES PAYABLE LINE OF CREDIT

2005 2004 2005 2004
Revolving credit facility of $50.0 million, interest at the lending
institution’s prime rate plus 1% (8.25% at December 31, 2005),
payable monthly in arrears $ — $ — §— $12,000
Note payable of $3.1 million issued for certain equipment,
due in monthly instaliments through November 2005,
interest at LIBOR rate plus 3.13% — 2,135 — —
Note payable of $37.4 million issued in exchange for
shares repurchased, interest fixed at 5.75%,
principal and interest paid in full on January 21, 2005 — 37,415 — —
OCther 120 50 — —
Total notes payable and lines of credit 120 :39,600 — 12,000
Less: Current portion (120) (39,600) — —
$ — $ — $— $12,000
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Future principal payments of notes payable and line of credit at
December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

NOTES LINE OF
FOR THE PERIODS ENDING DECEMBER 31, PAYABLE CREDIT
20086 $120 $—

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had outstanding eight
unused standby letters of credit in the aggregate amount of $1.5
million which serve as security deposits for certain capital and
operating leases and insurance policies. The Company is required
to maintain a cash balance equal to the outstanding letters of credit,
which is classified as restricted cash on the balance shest.

9. LONG-TERM CONVERTIBLE DEBT

On September 30, 2005, the Company entered into a Purchase
Agreement with UES Securities, LLC, Banc of America Securities,
LLC and William Blair & Company LLC (the “Initial Purchasers”),
to sell $100 million aggregate principal amount of its 2.75%
Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 (the “Notes”) in a private
placement in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (the “Securities Act”). The Notes have been resold
by the Initial Purchasers to qualified institutional buyers pursuant
to Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The sale of the Notes to the
Initial Purchasers was consummated on October 5, 2005.

The aggregate net proceeds received by the Company from the
sale of the Notes were approximately $82.0 million, after deducting
the amount used to repurchase one million shares of its common
stock at $14.50 per share in connection with the private placement,
the Initial Purchasers’ discount and estimated offering expenses.
The indebtedness under the Notes constitutes the Company's
senior unsecured obligations and will rank equally with all of its
existing and future unsecured indebtedness.

The Notes were issued pursuant to an Indenture, dated October 5,
2005, by and beiween the Company and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as trustee. The Notes bear interest at a rate
of 2.75%, which is payable in cash semi-annually in arrears on
April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing on April 1, 2006,
to the holders of record on the preceding March 15 and September
15, respectively.

The Notes are convertible into shares of the Company’s common
stock at an initial conversion price of $18.85 per share, or 53.0504
shares for each $1,000 principal amount of Notes, subject to
certain adjustments set forth in the Indenture, Upon conversion of
the Notes, the Company will have the right to deliver shares of its
common stock, cash or a combination of cash and shares of its
common stock. The Notes are convertible () prior to October 1,
2020, during any fiscal quarter after the fiscal quarter ending
December 31, 2005, if the closing sale price of the Company’s
common stock for 20 or more trading days in a period of 30

consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the
immediately preceding fiscal guarter exceeds 120% of the
conversion price in effect on the last trading day of the immediately
preceding fiscal quarter, (i) prior to October 1, 2020, during the five
business day period after any five consecutive trading day period
(the “Note Measurement Period") in which the average trading price
per $1,000 principal amount of Notes was equal to or less than 97%
of the average conversion value of the Notes during the Note
Measurement Period, (i) upon the occurrence of specified corporate
transactions, as described in the Indenture, (iv) if we call the Notes
for redemption, or (v) any time on or after October 1, 2020.

The Notes mature on Octaber 1, 2025. However, on or after
October 5, 2010, the Company may from time to time at its option
redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, for cash, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes we
redeem, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding,
the redemption date. On each of October 1, 2010, October 1,
2015 and October 1, 2020, holders may require the Company to
purchase all or a portion of their Notes at a purchase price in
cash equal 1o 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be
purchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding,
the purchase date. In addition, holders may reguire the Company
to repurchase all or a portion of their Notes upon a fundamental
change, as described in the Indenture, at a repurchase price in
cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be
repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but
excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date. Additionally,
the Notes may become immediately due end payable upon an
Event of Default, as defined in the Indenture. Pursuant to a
Registration Rights Agreement dated October 5, 2005, the
Company has agreed to prepare and file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, within 90 days after the closing of the
sale of the Notes, a registration statement urder the Securities Act
for the purpose of registering for resale, the Notes and all of the
shares of its common stock issuable upon ccnversion of the Notes.

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In October 2000, in connection with the acquisition of Erisco
Managed Care Technologies, Inc. (“Erisco”), the Company entered
into a software license agreement with IMS Health to which IMS
Health would pay three annual installments of $1.0 millicn each for
a total of $3.0 million beginning October 2000. As of December 31,
2003, the total of $3.0 million had been received and recognized
as revenue. Approximately $1.0 million is included in recurring
revenue in each year for 2003 and 2002, The license agreement
terminated in 2003.

In December 2000, in connection with the acquisition of Resource
Information Management Systems, Inc. (“RIMS"), the Company
acquired a facility lease agreement with Mill Street Properties with
a future commitment of $3.1 million, for the rental of the 500
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Technology Drive, Naperville, IL facility. Thomas Heimsoth and Terry
Kirch, co-founders of RIMS, were also co-owners of Mill Street
Properties. Effective December 10, 2003, the property was sold
to an unrelated third party.

In December 2004, the Company also entered into a Share
Purchase Agreement with IMS Heaith (See Note 8).

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company leases office space and equipment under non-
cancelable operating and capital leases, respectively, with varicus
expiration dates through 2013. Capital lease obligations are
collateralized by the eguipment subject to the leases. The Company
is responsible for maintenance costs and property taxes on certain
of the operating leases. Rent expense for the years ended December
31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $6.8 million, $7.5 milion and $8.0
million, respectively. These amounts are net of sublease income
of $668,000, $522,000 and $178,000, respectively.

The aggregate future minimum rentals to be received under non-
cancelable subleases as of December 31, 2005 is approximately
$251,000. Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable
operating and capital leases at December'31, 2005 are as foliows
(in thousands):

CAPITAL OPERATING

FOR THE YEARS ENDING DECEMBER 31, LEASES LEASES
2006 $2,132 $13,103
2007 710 9,963
2008 229 8,374
2009 121 6,408
2010 85 4,383
Thereafter — 6,968
Total minimum lease payments 3,277 $49,198

Less: interest (233)
Less: current portion (1,979)
$1,085

On December 22, 2005, the Company acquired all of the issued
and outstanding shares of CareKey. The estimated purchase price
as of December 31, 2005 was approximately $60.5 million, which
consisted of cash payments of $60.0 million and estimated
acquisition-related costs of $500,000. Of the $60.0 million, $25.2
million remained cutstanding to be paid to CareKey stockholders in
20086. CareKey stockholders and optionholders will also be entitled
o receive contingent consideration under each of the following
circumstances: (i) $15.0 million in cash payable on February 28,
20086 in the event certain customer retention conditions are met
as of February 15, 2006, and (i) up to $25.0 million, in cash or
stock at TriZetto’s election, in the event certain financial milestones
are achieved during the period ending December 31, 2008. In
addition, further consideration, payable in cash or stock at TriZetto's

election, may be paic‘l to CareKey stockholders and optionholders
if, prior to December 31, 2008, CareKey generates revenues in excess

of certain milestone or if CareKey generates certain software
maintenance revenues during the fiscal year ended December

31, 2009 in excess o‘f certain milestones.

12. LITIGATION

On October 26, 2004, a jury in California Superior Court, County
of Alameda, delivereé its verdict in the case of Asscciated Third
Party Administrators v. The TriZetto Group, Inc., a dispute involving
technology agreem‘ents between Associated Third Party
Administrators (“ATP‘A”), a former Qiclink™ customer, and the
Company. In its verdi\ct, the jury found that the Company made
certain misrepresentations to ATPA in connection with the license of
QicLink™ software in 2001 and awarded darnages of approximately
$1.85 million, represe:nting primarily the amount of the license fee
paid by ATPA. In the ﬂ‘rst quarter of 2005, a judgment was entered
by the court, which inc}uded, in addition to damages of $1.85 million,
approximately $500,000 in pre-judgment interest and recoverable
costs. The Company re\corded an accrual for the additional $500,000
of costs in the first quarter of 2005 increasing the total accrual for
the dispute to $2.35 r‘ninion. In June 2005, the Company entered
into a settlement agr‘eement with ATPA in which the Company
agreed to pay ATPA $2.2 million to fully resolve the dispute. The
Company paid this amount to ATPA in July 2005. In June 2005,
the Company’s insurance carrier agreed to reimburse the Company
a total of $1.1 million [of the settlement. The reimbursement was

received in July 2005 and was recorded as a reduction 1o expense.

On September 13, 2?04, McKesson Information Solutions LLC
("McKesson”) filed a 7?wsu1t against the Company in the United
States District Court for the District of Delaware. In its complaint,

McKesson alleged th?t the Company made, used, offered for
sale, and/or sold a clir\wical editing software system that infringes
McKesson's United States Patent No. 5,253,164, entitled “System

And Method For Detecting Fraudulent Medical Claims Via

Examination Of Services Codes.” McKesson seeks injunctive

relief and substantial m‘onetary damages, including treble damages

for willful infringement.| As of December 31, 2005, the Company
has not accrued any liability related to this lawsuit as the

Company did not believe, as of the filing date of this report on

Form 10-K, that its !iatg‘ility to McKesson is probable and capable
of being reasonably estimated. The Company’s attorney fees and

ather defense costs rel‘ated to this matter are being expensed as
incurred. If it is deterrpined that the Company’s clinical editing
software infringes McKesson’s patent and the injunction sought by

McKesson is granted by the Court, the Company could be liable
for substantial monetary damages and be precluded from offering
clinical editing soﬂwaré to its customers. In addition, pursuant to
contractual obligations‘ with many of its Facts™, Facets® and

Qiclink™ customers, the Company may be required, at the Company’s
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cost, to replace its clinical editing software with a non-infringing
alternative solution. An adverse decision in this litigation could have
a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations,
financial position or cash flows.

In addition to the matters described above, the Company is
involved in fitigation from time to time relating to claims arising out of
its cperations in the normal course of business. Except as discussed
above, the Company was not a party to any other legal proceedings,
the adverse outcome of which, in management’s opinion, individually
or in the aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on its
results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

13. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

COMMON STOCK

In December 2004, the Company and IMS Health entered into a
Share Purchase Agreesment pursuant to which, on the same date,
the Company purchased all of the 12,142,857 shares (“IMS Shares”)
of the Company’s common stock, owned by IMS Health for an
aggregate purchase price of $82.0 million, or $6.75 per share. The
purchase price was paid by delivery of $44.6 million in cash and
a Subordinated Promissory Note in the principal amount of $37.4
million. The Subordinated Promissory Note bore interest at the rate
of 5.75% and was due and paid in full on January 21, 2005 from the
Company’s cash accounts. Immediately following the purchase of
the IMS Shares, the Company placed 6,600,000 of such shares
with ValueAct Capital for an aggregate purchase price of $44.6
million, or $6.75 per share.

Pursuant to a letter dated December 5, 2004, the Company was
given the right to repurchase up to 600,000 of the shares sold to
ValueAct. On September 19, 2005, the Company exercised its
repurchase right with respect to all 600,000 shares for an aggregate
purchase price of $5.3 million, or $8.83 per share, that was paid
for in cash.

On September 30, 2005, the Company entered into a Purchase
Agreement with UBS Securities, LLC, Banc of America Securities,
LLC and William Blair & Company LLC (the “Initial Purchasers”),
to selt $100 million aggregate principal amount of its 2.756%
Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 (the “Notes”) in a private
placement in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (the “Securities Act”). The Notes have been resold
by the Initial Purchasers to qualified institutional buyers pursuant
to Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The sale of the Notes to
the Initial Purchasers was consummated on October 5, 2005.

The aggregate net proceeds received by the Company from the
sale of the Notes were approximately $82.0 million, after deducting
the amount used to repurchase one million shares of its common
stock at $14.50 per share in connection with the private placement,
the Initial Purchasers’ discount and estimated offering expenses.
The indebtedness under the Notes constitutes the Company’s

senior unsecured obligations and will rank equally with all of its
existing and future unsecured indebtedness.

Common stockholders are entitled to dividends as and when
declared by the Board of Directors subject to the prior rights of
preferred stockholders. The holders of each share of common
stock are entitled to one vote.

STOCK OPTION PLANS

In May 13898, the Company adopted the 1998 Stock Option Plan
{the “1998 Stock Option Plan”) under which the Board of Directors
{the “Board”) or the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”)
may issue incentive and non-qualified stock options to employees,
directors and consultants. The Committee had the authority to
determine to whom options will be granted, the number of shares
and the term and exercise price. Options were to be granted at an
exercise price not less than fair market value for incentive stock
options or 85% of fair market value for non-qualified stock options.
For individuals holding more than 10% of the voting rights of all
classes of stock, the exercise price of incentive stock options will not
pe less than 110% of fair market value. The options generally vest
and became exercisable annually at a rate of 25% of the option
grant over a four-year period. The term of the options would be
no longer than five years for incentive stock options for which the
grantee owns greater than 10% of the voting power of all classes
of stock and no longer than ten years for all other options.

On November 30, 2000, in connection with the Resource
Information Management Systems, Inc. (“RIMS”) acquisition, the
Company adopted the RIMS Stock Option Plan based primarily upon
RIMS’ existing non-statutory stock option plan. Unless previously
terminated by the stockholders, the Plan shall terminate at the close
of business on January 1, 2009, and no opticns shall be granted
under it thereafter. Such termination shall not affect any option
previously granted. Upon a business combination by the Company
with any corporation or ¢cther entity, the Company may provide
written notice to optionees that options shall terminate on a date not
less than 14 days after the date of such notice unless theretofore
exercised. In connection with such notice, the Company may, in
its discretion, accelerate or waive any deferred exercise period.

In March 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company amended
and restated the 1998 Stock Option Plan, renaming it the 1998
Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). As amended, the Plan permits
the granting of the following types of awards: options, share
appreciation rights, restricted and unrestricted share awards,
deferred share units, and performance awards. The principal
changes made to the 1998 Stock Option Plan pursuant to this
amendment and restatement are as follows: (i) renaming it “The
TriZetto Group, Inc. 1998 Long-term Incentive Plan,” (i) increasing
the numbers of shares available for issuance by 2,000,000 (from
11,000,000 to 13,000,000 shares), (i) adding provisions that permit
awards other than options, and (iv) modifying the Committee’s
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discretion to administer the Plan and past or future awards, The
terms and conditions of all options outstanding under the 1998
Stock Option Plan immediately before the effective date of this
amendment and restatement shall continue to be governed by
the terms and conditions of the 1998 Stock Option Plan (and the
respective instruments evidencing each such option) as in effect

on the date each such option was granted; provided, however,

that any one or more‘ provisions of the amended and restated

Plan, may, in the Committee’s discretion, be extended to one or
more of such options (subject to the participant’s written consent

of any adverse changés),

Activity under the plans related only to stock opticns was as follows (in thousands, except ?er share data):

QOUTSTANDING OPTIONS

WEIGHTED
SHARES UMBER AVERAGE
AVAILABLE OF EXERCISE EXERCISE
FOR GRANT SHARES PRICE PRICE
Balances, December 31, 2002 2,403 6,379 $0.25 - $63.25 $11.89
Additional options reserved 1,200 —
Granted (1,784) 1,784 334 7.7 3.73
Exercised — {406) 025~ 6.50 1.19
Cancelled 942 (942) 1.00-- 57.50 12.87
Balances, December 31, 2003 2,761 6,815 0.25-- 8325 10.26
Additional options reserved 2,000 —
Granted (2,442) 2,442 586- 7.07 6.64
Exercised — (255) 025- 8.50 2.59
Cancelled 1,314 (1,314) 1.00-- 63.25 10.41
Balances, December 31, 2004 3,833 7,688 0.25- 83.25 9.33
Additional options reserved — —
Granted (2,214) 2,214 8.35 - 16.07 8.67
Exercised — 1,290) 025~ 1513 7.51
Cancelled 365 (365) 3.34- 1525 8.71
Balances, December 31, 2005 1,784 8,247 $0.25 - $63.25 $ 9.44

At December 31, 2005, the Company had reserved approximately 9,570,229 shares of common stock for issuance upon exercise of stock
options and shares issuable under its stock option plans, which includes approximately 460,000 shares of restricted stock granted

to employees.

The options outstanding and currently exercisable by exercise price at December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

OPTIONS QUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31, 2005

QPTIONS EXERCISABLE AT DECEMBER 31,2005

WEIGHTED AVERAGE

REMAINING WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
NUMBER CONTRACTUAL AVERAGE NUMBER AVERAGE

RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICE OF SHARES LIFE {YEARS) EXERCISE PRICE OF SHARES EXERCISE PRICE
$025-% 3.49 1,000 595 $2.70 698 $2.36
$411-% 653 389 6.49 5.77 214 5.99
$ 6.66-$ 6.66 1,554 8.13 6.66 286 8.66
$685-8 777 328 7.65 7.10 180 7.1
$835-% 835 1,632 9.12 8.35 — —
$ 8.48 - %1219 1,362 6.74 10.07 676 11.24
$12.50 - $14.50 775 6.10 12.81 441 12.81
$15.13 - $15.13 1,031 4.75 18,18 1,031 15,13
$15.13 - $57.50 276 4.39 29.77 239 286.72
8,247 6.98 9.44 3,765 10.98

At December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, options exercisable under the plans were 3,765,394 3,825,989, and 3,527,773, respectively
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EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

in July 1899, the Board of Directors adopted the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (“Stock Purchase Plan”), which is intended to
qualify under Sectior 423 of the Internal Revenue Code. A total of
600,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance
under the original Stock Purchase Plan. The Stock Purchase Plan
was amended on May 14, 2003 and May 11, 2005, increasing
the number of common stock reserved for issuance to 1,500,000
shares, of which 455,918 remain available for issuance at
December 31, 200%. Employees are eligible to participate once
they have been emgployed for at least 90 days before the offering
period and are employed for at least 20 hours per week.
Employses who own more than 5% of the Company’s outstanding
stock may not participate. The Stock Purchase Plan permits eli-
gible employees to purchase common stock through payroll
deductions, which may not exceed the lesser of 15% of an
employee’s compensation or $25,000.

The Stock Purchase Plan was implemented by six-month offerings
with purchases occurring at six-month intervals commencing
January 1, 2000. Effective July 1, 20085, the purchase price of the
common stock under the Stock Purchase Plan will be equal to
95% of the fair market value per share of common stock on the
last date of the offering period (or purchase date). The Stock
Purchase Plan will terminate in 2009, unless terminated sooner
by the Board of Directors. Shares issued under the Stock
Purchase Plan in 2005, 2004, and 2003 were 89,869, 196,808,
and 269,516, at a weighted average purchase price of $8.02,
$5.65, and $5.05 per share, respectively. Shares issued in 2005
represent only one offering period since the purchase date of the
second offering period took place in early January 20086.

DEFERRED STOCK COMPENSATION

The Company records deferred stock compensation related to
stock options granted to employees, where the exercise price is
lower than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock
on the date of the grant. Additionally, the Company records
deferred stack compensation for the issuance of restricted stock
to certain employees related to acguisitions and to certain
employees to encourage continued service with the Company —
see “Restricted Stock.” As of December 31, 2005, the Company
had approximately $3.0 million of unamortized deferred stock
compensation related to restricted stock. The Company amortizes
the deferred stock compensation charge over the vesting period of
the underlying stock option or restricted stock awarded. Amortization
of deferred stock compensation expense was $1.4 million, $594,000,
and $1.8 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Future amortization expense related to deferred stock compensation
is estimated to be as follows (in thousands):

FOR THE YEARS ENDING DECEMBER 31,

2006 $1,295
2007 1,009
2008 590
2009 92
Total $2,986

Expense related to deferred stock compensation may vary from
amounts identified above due to forfeitures, additional grants,
and due to the affects of the Company’s adoption of FASB No.
123R in 2008.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

In September 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a
shareholder rights plan. The plan provides for a dividend distribution
of one preferred stock purchase right (a “Right”) for each outstanding
share of common stock, distributed to stockholders of record on
or after October 18, 2000. The Rights will be exercisable only if a
person or group acquires 15% or more of the Company’s common
stock (an "Acquiring Person”) or announces a tender offer for 15%
or more of the common stock. Each Right will entitle stockholders
to buy one one-hundredth of a share of newly created Series A
Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share,
of the Company at an initial exercise price of $75 per Right, subject
to adjustment from time to time. However, if any person becomes
an Acquiring Person, each Right will then entitle its holder (other
than the Acguiring Person) to purchase at the exercise price,
common stock of the Company having a market value at that
time of twice the Right’s exercise price. If the Company is later
acquired in a merger or similar transaction, all holders of Rights
(other than the Acquiring Person) may, for $75.00, purchase shares
of the acquiring corporation with a marke: value of $150.00.
Rights held by the Acquiring Person will become void. The Rights
Plan excludes from its operation ValueAct Capital with respect to
the shares of the Company's common stock acquired by it on
December 21, 2004. As a result, their holdings will not cause the
Rights to become exercisable or non-redeemable or trigger the
other features of the Rights. The Rights will expire on October 2,
2010, uniess earlier redeemed by the Board at $0.001 per Right.

The holders of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock in
preference to the holders of common stock, shall be entitled to
receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, quarterly
dividends payable in cash in an amount per share equal to 100 times
the aggregate per share amount of all cash dividends or non-cash
dividends other than a dividend payable in share of common stock.

Each share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock shall
entitle its holder to 100 votes.
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RESTRICTED STOCK

The Company has recorded a total of $1.4 million, $3.0 million and $388,000 of deferred stock compensation in 2005, 2004 and 2003,

l

respectively, for the issuance of restricted stock. The valuation of restricted stock is calculated based on the fair market value on the

date of grant and is amortized over the vesting period of the underlying restricted stock award, which ranges from two to four years.

There were approximately 1,086,000 shares of restricted stock outstanding at December

31, 2005, of which 479,400 shares were

unvested. Pursuant to the restricted stock agreements, the Company shall cancel any unvested shares of common stock upon termination
of services. The number of shares and valuation of restricted stock at December 31, 2005, is summarized in the table below (in thousands,

except for per share data):

NUMBER OF SHARES PRICE RANGE VALUATION
Balances, December 31, 2002 484 $4.68 - $17.31 $1,915
Granted 100 3.88 388
Cancelled — — —
Mark-to-market vatuation — — 18
Amortization — — (1,458)
Balances, December 31, 2003 564 3.88 - 17.31 863
Granted 480 586- 7.07 3,009
Cancelled (38) — (405)
Mark-to-market valuation — — —
Amortization — - (594)
Balances, December 31, 2004 986 3.88- 17.31 2,873
Granted 115 8.25- 17.33 1,409
Cancelled {15) — (90)
Mark-to-market valuation — _ —
Amortization — — (1,206)
Balances, December 31, 2005 11 ,086 $3.88 - $17.33 $2,986
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14, INCOME TAXES
The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows
(in thousands):

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 2004 2003
Current:
Federal $429 3 — $ —
State (17 1,101 1,124
412 1,101 1,124
Deferred:
Federal — — —
State — — —

$412 $1,101 $1,124

Provision for income taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income
tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred
tax liabilities and assets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, are
as follows {in thousands):

DECEMBER 31, 2006 DECEMEBER 31, 2004

CURRENT LONG-TERM GURRENT LONG-TERM

Deferred tax assets:

Reserves and accruals  $ 2,348 § — $ 4,178 $ 1,066
Deferred compensation — 130 — 253
Other 6 34 42 28
State taxes 12 — 134 —
Deferred revenue 533 — — —
Acquired intangible

assets — 1,137 — 139
Start-up costs 813 2,440 — —
Net operating losses

and capital losses 8,000 25,057 8,000 30,676
Tax credits — 1,964 — 1,009

Deferred tax assets 11,713 30,762 12,354 33,171
Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred revenue — — (2,705) —
Depreciation — (1,272) — (2,790)
State taxes — (1,204) — (989)
Capitalized software —  (11,949) — (11,328
Deferred tax liabilities —  {14,425) (2,708) (15,107)
Net deferred tax
assets before valuation
allowance 11,713 16,337 9,649 18,064
Valuation allowance (11,713)  (16,337)  (9,649) (18,084)

Net deferred taxes $ — $ — 8 — 3 —

The valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets was $28.0
million and $27.7 million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The net change in the valuation allowance was an
increase during 2005 due to adjustments to Federal and state
loss carryforwards and the acquisition of net deferred tax assets of
CareKey, offset partially by a decrease due to current year activity.

If and when the Company decreases the valuafion allowance on its
deferred tax asset, approximately $16.6 million will be allocated to
income tax benefit, $6.2 million will be recorded as an adjustment
to goodwill, and $5.2 million will be recorded as an adjustment to
equity for the benefit of employee stock option exercises.

The Company's effective tax rate differs from the statutory rate as
shown in the following schedule (in thousands):

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 2004 2003

Tax expense {benefit) at

federal statutory rate $7,851 $ 3,250 $(8,959)
State income taxes (17) 1,101 742
Change in valuation allowance (7,658) (3,498) 9,305

Amortization of deferred
stock compensation — — (127)
Other — 65 —
Nondeductible items 236 183 163
$ 412 $ 1,101 $1,124

Federal tax loss carryforwards at December 31, 2005 are approx-
imately $80.5 million. The Federal tax loss carryforwards will start
to expire beginning in 2010. State tax loss carryforwards at
December 31, 2005 are approximately $71.6 million. The state tax
loss carryforwards will start to expire beginning in 2006. Approximately
$15.0 million of the Federal and state tax loss carryforwards are
related to net operating losses obtained in connection with the
Diogenes and CareKey acquisitions. Such net operating losses
are subject to limitations in accordance with IRC Section 382.

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

In January 1998, the Company adopted a defined contribution
plan (the “401(k) Plan”) which qualifies under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986. Employees are eligible to participate
the first day of the month following 30 days of employment.
Eligible employees may make voluntary contributions to the 401(k)
Plan of up to 25% of their annual compensation, not to exceed
the statutory limit.
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Effective January 1, 2001, the Company provides a discretionary
matching contribution to the 401(k) Plan in the amount of $0.50
for each $1.00 contributed to the Plan, up to 6% of pay.
Employees must be employed on the last day of the Plan Year
(December 31) to receive the match. The match has a three-year
vesting period after which the employee will be 100% vested. The
Company’s cash contributions to the 401{k) plan in 2005, 2004, and
2003 were $1.9 million, $2.1 million, and $2.1 miliion, respectively,

On December 21, 2005 the Company’s Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors formally adopted the
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Plan’). The Plan is an
unfunded deferred compensation plan established and maintained
for the purpose of providing key management employees with the
opportunity to defer the receipt of compensation and to accumulate
earnings on such deferrals on a tax-deferred basis. The Gompany
determines which key management employees will be eligible to
participate in the Plan. Currently, all of the executive officers of
the Company are eligible to participate. The Plan is administered
by the Company and became effective as of June 30, 2005.

Under the Plan, each participant may elect to defer, for any calendar
year, up to 75% of his or her base salary and/or 100% of any
commissions and/or bonuses earned during such calendar year.
Amounts deferred for each participant are recorded in a book-
keeping account for such participant. Each participant is allowed
to make a hypothetical allocation of the amounts credited to his
or her account among investment options/indices that the
Company makes available from time to time. Each account is
credited at least annually with notational earnings equal to the
aggregate/weighted average return on the investment options/
indices selected by the participant, less expenses. The Company
also may credit each participant’s account with a discretionary
company contribution. Company contributions vest after three years
of service with the Company. The Company made a contribution
of $52,000 to this plan in 2005.

Upon termination of employment, a participant is entitled to a benefit
from the Company equal to the amount of vested contributions
credited to his or her account, subject to certain restrictions.
Alternatively, a participant may elect to have all or a portion the
contriputions in his or her account paid in one or more installments,
subject to certain waiting period and other restrictions set forth
in the Plan.

The Company has purchased life insurance policies with the
funds in which the executive officers elected to defer in the Plan.
The majerity of the non-qualified retirement plan assets are held
in a company-owned life insurance policy, whose investment assets
are a separately-man?ged portfolio administered by an insurance
company. The assets held under this insurance policy are recorded
at estimated fair valué with changes in estimated value recorded
in net earnings. At the‘ end of fiscal year 2005, the Company was
the beneficiary of various insurance contracts on some of the
participants in the Plans. At December 31, 2005, these life insurance

confracts had cash surrender values of $1561,000.

18. ACQUISITIONS
DIOGENES, INC.

On April 26, 2004, the Company completed its acquisition of
Diogenes, Inc. (“Diogenes”). Diogenes developed and marketed
transaction-messaging software, which provides EDI-class trans-
action processing aoré)ss the Internet. The Company determined
that Dicgenes’ software‘ as adapted to handle healthcare claims and
other business transactions would broaden and augment its current

offerings and strengthen the infrastructure of its current offerings.

The final purchase price as of April 26, 2005 was approximately
$5.2 million, which consisted of cash payments of $2.2 million,
deferred payments of($2.5 million, and acquisition-related costs
of $459,000. The former shareholders of Diogenes received a
total payment of $2.5 ;nillion on April 26, 2005, which was paid in
cash. The acquisition‘ of Diogenes was not significant to the
Company’s results of operations and therefore is not required to

present pro forma information for the periods prior to acquisition.

The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting and, accorldingly, the purchase price was allocated to
the tangible and intang‘ible assets acquired and liabllities assumed
on the basis of their estimated fair market values on the acquisition
date. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair market
value of the assets purchased and liabilities assumed was $5.2
million and was allocated to goodwill and other intangible assets.
Goodwill, representing|the excess of the purchase price over the
fair value of tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in
the acquisition, will not be amortized and is not deductible for tax
purposes. Other intangibles are being amortized over a period of

60 months from the date of acquisition.
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CAREKEY, INC.

On December 22, 2005, the Company acquired all of the issued
and outstanding shares of CareKey, Inc. (“CareKey”). CareKey is
a member-centric pletform automating population, disease, case,
and utilization management. Prior to the acquisition, the Company
had entered into an arrangement at the end of 2003 to integrate
CareKey products into its suite of care management solutions
(“CareAdvance™) for sale within the Facets® installed customer
base. CareAdvance integrated with TriZetto's Facets® administrative
system provided real-time access to member administrative data
including claims, eligibility, benefits and authorizations. The Company
believes that the acquisition of CareKey will allow it to further tighten
the integration of CareAdvance™ to that of Facets®. Additionally,
the acquisition permits the Company to expand the distribution of
CareAdvance™ beyond the current Facets® installed base.

Because the acquisition was completed on December 22, 2005,
there was not sufficient time to finalize the fair market valuation as
of December 31, 2005. Once the Company receives a final valuation,
the estimated purchase price will be adjusted and the allocation
between goodwill and identifiable intangible assets will be
recorded. Portions related to gooawill, reprasenting the excess of
the purchase price over the fair value of tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired in the acquisition, will not be amortized
and is not deductible for tax purposes. Any amounts attributable to
identifiable intangible assets will be amortized over their usefut life
and deductible over varying tax periods. The estimated purchase
price as of December 31, 2005 was approximately $80.5 million,
which consisted of cash payments of $60.0 million and estimated
acquisition- related costs of $500,000. Of the $60.0 miliion,
$25.2 million remained outstanding to be paid to CareKey stock-
holders in 2006. CareKey stockholders and optionholders will
also be entitled to receive contingent consideration under each of
the following circumstances: () $15.0 million, in cash payable on
February 28, 2006 in the event certain customer retention conditions
are met as of February 15, 2006, and (i) up to $25.0 million, in
cash or stock at TriZetto's election, in the event certain financial
milestones are achieved during a pericd ending December 31, 2008.
In addition, further contingent consideration, payable in cash or stock
at TriZetto's election, may be paid to CareKey stockholders and
optionholders if, prior to December 31, 2008, CareKey generates
revenues in excess of certain milestones or if CareKey generates
certain software maintenance revenues during the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2009 in excess of certain mitestones.

The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting. The excess of the purchase price over the preliminary
fair market value of the assets purchased and liabilities assumed
was $47.7 million and was allocated to goodwill. Once the Company
completes its final determination of the fair market value of the
assets and liabilities assumed, the estimated purchase price will
be adjusted and the allocation between goodwill and identifiable
intangible assets will be recorded.

The following unaudited pro forma summary combines the con-
solidated results of cperations of the Company and CareKey for
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 as if the acguisition
had cccurred at the beginning of 2004, after giving effect to certain
pro forma adjustments. This pro forma financial information is
provided for informational purposes only and may not be indicative of
the results of operations as they would have been had the transaction
been effected on the assumed date, nor is it indicative of the
results of operations which may occur in the future (in thousands,
except per share amounts).

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 2004
Net revenue $208,462 $274,636
Net income ® $ 20857 $ 5668
Net income per share (diluted) $§ 045 $ 012

) amounts do not include the impact of the amortization of intangible assets which may be recorded.

The purchase price allocations for the acquisitions described
above were based on the estimated fair value of the assets and
liabilities, on the date of purchase as follows (in thousands):

DIOGENES CAREKEY 2

Total current assets $ 155  $13,835
Property, plant, equipment and

other non-current assets 308 1,662
Goodwill 1,876 47,715
Other intangible assets 3,300 —
Total assets acquired 5,639 63,212

less: liahilities assumed (433) 2,712)
Total purchase price of

net assets acquired $5,206  $60,500

12) Allocation is prefiminary pending final determination in 2008.
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17. LOSS ON CONTRACTS

During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company decided to wind-
down its outsourcing services to physician group customers. As
a result of this decision, the Company estimated that the existing
customer agreements would generate a total loss of $11.3 million
until the terms of these agreements expired in 2008. This loss
was charged to recurring cost of revenue in the fourth guarter of
2003. Through discussions and negotiations, the Company was
able to accelerate the termination of its services agreements with
certain physician group customers and implemented cost cutting
measures that reduced the expected future costs to support its
remaining customers. As a result of these actions, the Company
was able to reverse approximately $5.9 million of previously
accrued loss on contracts charges in 2004. Early in the second
quarter of 2005, the Company executed termination agreements
with its two remaining physician group customers. The Company
continued to provide outsourced business services through May
2005, when the transition services were completed. The completion
of these services to the remaining customers allowed the Company
to reverse the remaining balance in its loss on contracts accrual
of $2.9 million in the second quarter of 2005. The total amount of
loss actually incurred related to the outsourcing services to physician
group customers was $2.1 million in 2004 and $403,000 in the
first six months of 2005.

In December 2003, the Company negotiated a settlement regarding
out-of-scope work related to one of its large fixed fee implementation
projects. As a result of this settlement, the Company estimated
that this project would generate a total loss of $3.7 million until its
completion, which was expected to occur in mid-2004. This loss
was charged to non-recurring cost of revenue in the fourth quar-
ter of 2003. In 2004, the Company determined that the large
fixed fee implementation project would require a greater effort to
complete than previously estimated. As a result, the Company
accrued an additional $5.0 million of loss on contract charges in
the first nine months of 2004. In the fourth quarter of 2004, the
Company negotiated a settlement of additional out-of-scope
work, which decreased the total loss on the project and resulted
in the reversal of approximately $455,000 of previously accrued
loss on contracts charges. This fixed fee implementation was
completed by the end of the first quarter 2005. The total amount
of loss actually incurred on this project was $7.7 million in 2004
and $484,000 in the first quarter of 2005.

The following table surpmarizes the activities in the Company’s loss
on contracts reserves i\n 2005 (in thousands), upon final termination
agreements with the remaining physician greup customers:

\ PHYSICIAN GROUP

CONSULTING TOTAL

Accrued loss on Contr‘acts,

December 31, 2004 $ 3,280 $484 $3,764
Decrease in estimate

of loss (2,877) — (2,877)
Net loss applied

against accrual (403) (484) (887)
Accrued loss on contracts,

December 31, 2005 $ — $ — $ —
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18. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES

(IN THOUSANDS)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

2004

2003

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES
FOR CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
NON-CASH INVESTING AND
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Assets acquired through
capital lease
Deferred stock compensation
Common stock issued
for acquisitions —
Common stock issued
for purchase of
intangible assets 551
Note payable in exchange

$ 941
1,090

1,424
1,319

for repurchase of shares —

$ 1,486
1,188

1,151
2,604

37,414

$2,034
704

96
385

37

19. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company has adopted FASB Statement No. 131, “Disclosures
about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”
(“Statement 131"). Statement 131 requires enterprises to report
information about operating segments in annual financial statements
and selected information about reportable segments in interim
financial reports issued to stockholders. It also establishes standards
for related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas
and major customers. The Company has only one repertable segment.

The Company classifies its revenue in the following categories:
recurring or multi-year contractually based revenue, and revenue
generated via non-recurring agreements.

Recurring and non-recurring revenue by type of similar products
and services are as follows (in thousands):

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 2004 2003
Outsourced business services $ 79,418 ¢ 89,816 § 98,193
Software maintenance 80,719 69,065 62,780

Recurring revenue 160,137 158,981 160,973
Software license fees 48,736 51,308 45,688
Consutting services 82,411 63,424 79,889
Other non-recurring revenue 935 852 3,679

Non-recurring revenue 132,082 115,584 128,356
Total revenue $202219 $274,565 $290,329

The Company’s assets are all located in the United States and
the Company's sales were primarily to custcmers located in the
United States.
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20. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(UNAUDITED AND IN THOUSANDS)

NET INCOME NET INCOME
NET GROSS NET INCOME (LOSS) PER (LOSS) PER
REVENUE PROFIT ‘ {LOSS) SHARE, BASIC SHARE. DILUTED
FISCAL YEAR 2005
First quarterm $71,818 $32,209 $ 4,208 $0.10 $0.10
Second quarter® 72,508 33,402 4,979 0.12 0.1
Third quarter 73,083 33,319 6,480 0.15 0.14
Fourth quarter 74,840 34,761 6,264 0.15 0.14
FISCAL YEAR 2004
First quartert» $65,750 $18,241 $(4,339) $(0.09) $(0.09)
Second quarter« 67,517 24,329 431 0.01 0.01
Third quarter® 67,007 31,046 5,975 .13 0.12
Fourth quarterw 74,291 31,351 6,391 0,14 0.13

(1}During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company decided to wind-down its outsourcing services to physi-
cian group customsrs. As a result of this decision, the Company estimated that the existing customer
agreements would generate a total loss of $11.3 million until the terms of these agreements expired in
2008. This loss was charged to recurring ccst of revenue in the fourth quarter of 2003. Through discus-
sions and negotiations. the Company was zble to accelerate the termination of its services agreements
with certain physician group customers and implemented cost cutting measures that reduced the
expected future costs 1o support its remaining customers. As a result of these actions, the Company
was able to reverse approximately $5.9 million of previously accrued loss on contracts charges in 2004,
Early in the second quarter of 2005, the Company exacuted termination agresments with its two remain-
ing physician group customers. The Company continued to provide outsourced business services
through May 2005, when the transition services were compleated. The completion of these services (o the
remaining customers aliowed the Company to reverse the remaining balance in the loss on contracts
accrual of $2.9 million in the second quarter of 2005. The total amount of loss actually incurred refated
10 the outscurcing services to physician group customers was $2.1 miliion in 2004 and $403,000 in the
first six months of 2005,

21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 18, 2008, the Company and each of its subsidiaries
(the “Borrowers”) entered into Amendment Number Two to its
Credit Agreement (the “Amendment”) with Wells Fargo Foothill,
Inc., as the administrative agent and lender {the “Lender”). The
Amendment amends the terms of the Company’s Credit
Agreement dated December 21, 2004, by and among the
Borrowers and the Lender (the “Agreement”).

The Amendment increases the amount of the revolving credit
facility under the Agreement from $50 million to up to $100 million
(the “Facility”), subject to certain fixed percentages of the
Company's recurring revenues, and extends the expiration date
of the Agreement 1o January 5, 2010. Under the terms of the
Amendment, the principal outstanding under the Facility will bear
interest at a per annum rate equal to either (i) the LIBOR rate plus
an adjustable applicable margin of between 1.75% and 2.25% or
(i) Wells Fargo’s prime rate plus an adjustable applicable margin
of between 0.0% and 0.5%, at the election of the Borrowers,
subject to specified restrictions. The unused portions of the Facility
will be subject to unused Facllity fees. In the event the Borrowers
terminate the Agreement, as amended by the Amendment, prior
to its expiration, the Borrowers will be required to pay the Lender
a termination fee equal to 2% of the maximum credit amount if
the Agreement is terminated prior to the second anniversary of the
Agreement or 1% of the maximum credit amount if the Agreement
is terminated thereafter, up to 90 days prior to the expiration date
of the Agreement, subject to specified exceptions.

In December 2003, the Company negotiated a settlement regarding out-of-scope work related to one of
its large fixed fes implementation projects. As a resutt of this settiement, the Company estimated that this
project would generate a total loss ?f $3.7 milion until its completion, which was expected to occur in
mid-2004. This loss was charged to non-recurring cost of revenue in the fourth quarter of 2003. In 2004,
the Company determined that the large fixed fee implementation project would require a greater effort to
complete than previously estimated. lAs a result, the Company accnied an additional $5.0 million of loss
on contracts charges in the first six momhs of 2004, In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company negoti-
ated a settlement of additionat out-0f-scope work, which decreased the total loss on the project and
resulted in the reversal of approximagety $455,000 of previously accrued loss on contracts chargas, This
fixed fee implementation was completed by the end of the first quarter of 2005, The total amount of toss
actually incurred on this project was $7.7 million in 2004 and $484,00C in the first quarter of 2005.

The Company expects|to use the proceeds for general working
capital purposes. Und\er the Agreement, as amended by the
Amendment, the Borrowers have granted the Lender a security

interest in all of the assets of the Borrowers.

The Agreement, as amended by the Amendment, contains

customary affirmative a~nd negative covenants for ¢redit facilities

of this type, including lin‘witations on the Borrowers with respect to
indebtedness, liens, investments, distributions, mergers and
acquisitions, dispositions of assets and transactions with affiliates
of the Borrowers. The|Agreement, as amended, also includes
financial covenants including minimum EBITDA, minimum liquidity,
minimum recurring revenue and maximum capital expenditures.
The Company was in c‘ompliance with all applicable covenanis
and other restrictions ur"\der the Agreement as of the date of the

Amendment.

On December 22, 2008, the Company compieted its acquisition
of CareKey. Pursuant to‘ the terms of the Agreement and Plan of -
Merger, CareKey stockholders and optionholders were entitled to
receive contingent consideration if certain customer retention
conditions were met as\of February 15, 2006. These conditions
were met as of that date, and as a result, the Company expects
to pay CareKey stockholders and optionholdars a total of $15.0

|
million on February 28, 2006.



MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “TZIX” since October 8, 1299.

The following table shows the high and low closing prices of our common stock as reported on the NASDAQ National Market for the
periods indicated:

QUARTERS ENDED HIGH LOW
December 31, 2005 $17.33 $13.09
September 30, 2005 $17.21 $14.12
June 30, 2005 $14.34 $ 8.80
March 31, 2005 $ 9.48 $ 8.05
December 31, 2004 $ 9.50 $ 5.90
September 30, 2004 $ 7.28 $ 5.63
June 30, 2004 $ 8.05 $ 6.39
March 31, 2004 $ 7.80 $ 6.15

As of February 14, 2008, there were 119 holders of record based on the records of our transfer agent.

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain earnings, if any, to support operations
and to finance the growth and development of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The
payment of cash dividends by us is restricted by our current bank credit facility, which contains a restriction prohititing us from paying
any cash dividends without the bank’s prior approval.
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IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS: This report contains forward-looking statements that involve
risks and uncertainties. The forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Secur;mes Litigation Reform
Act of 1925. These forward-looking statements may include statements about future revenue, profits, cash flows and financial Jesults. the market for

TriZetto's services, future service offerings, industry trends, client and partner relationships, TriZetto's operational capabiliies, future financial structure,
uses of cash or proposed transactions. Actual results may differ materially from those stated in any forward-looking statements based on a number
of factors, including the effectiveness of TriZetto's implementation of its business plan, the market’s acceptance of TriZetto's new and existing
products and services, the timing of new bookings, risks associated with management of growth, refiance on third parties to supply key components

of TriZetto's services, attraction and retention of employees, variability of quarterly operating results, competitive factors,

risks associated with

acquisitions, changes in demand for third-party products or solutions that form the basis of TriZetto's service and product offerings, financial stability of
our customers, the ability of TriZetto to mest its contractual obligations to customers, including service level and disaster recovery cjammitments, changes
in government laws and regulations and risks associated with rapidly changing technology, as well as the other risks identified m Trizetto's SEC filings,
including, but not fimited to, its annual report on Form 10-K and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, copies of which may be obtained by contacting TriZetto's
investor Relations Department at 949-719-2225 or at TriZetto's web site at www.trizetto.com. All information in this report is as of Aprit 10, 2006. TriZetto
undertakes no duty to update any forward-tooking statement to conform the statement to actual results or changes in the <:ompanJ 's expectations.

Copyright 2008, The TriZetto Group, Ic. All rights reserved. Except as ctherwise noted. logos, products and services mentioned in this report are either trademarks or senvice marks.pf The TriZetto Group, inc.







